
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Planning Committee 
 

Time and Date 
2.30 pm on Wednesday, 20th December, 2023  (Please note change of time)  
 
Place 
Council Chamber - Council House 
 

 

 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
3. Members Declarations of Contact on Planning Applications   
 

 Members are reminded that contacts about any planning applications on this 
agenda must, unless reported to this meeting by the Strategic Lead for 
Planning, be declared before the application is considered. 
 

4. Late Representations   
 

 To be circulated at the meeting. 
 

5. Application RMM/2022/1982 - Land at Thompsons Farm  (Pages 3 - 46) 
 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning 
 

6. Application RMM/2022/2615 - Land at Thompsons Farm  (Pages 47 - 92) 
 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning 
 

7. Application PL/2023/0001811/HHA - 15 Merynton Avenue  (Pages 93 - 104) 
 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning 
 

8. Application PL/2023/0002456/TCA - Holly Bank Earlsdon Avenue South, 
Coventry, CV5 6DS  (Pages 105 - 112) 

 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning  
 

9. Outstanding Issues   
 

 There are no outstanding issues. 
 

10. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved   
 

 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 

Julie Newman, Chief Legal Officer, Council House, Coventry 
 
Tuesday, 12 December 2023 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Carolyn Sinclair / Usha Patel carolyn.sinclair@coventry.gov.uk  / 
usha.patel@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 
Membership: Councillors N Akhtar, P Akhtar, R Bailey, J Gardiner, L Harvard (Chair), 
A Kaur, T  Khan (Deputy Chair), G Lloyd, K Maton, C Miks and R Simpson  
 
By invitation Councillor D Welsh (Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities) 
 
 
 

Carolyn Sinclair / Usha Patel  
carolyn.sinclair@coventry.gov.uk  / usha.patel@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 



 
 

Planning Committee Report 
 Planning Ref:  RMM/2022/1982 
Site:  Land at Thompsons Farm 
Ward: Bablake. 
Proposal: Submission of reserved matters (appearance, 

landscaping, layout and scale) for the erection of 328no. 
dwellings and associated infrastructure pursuant to 
planning permission OUT/2019/0484 granted on 
05/07/2022 for erection of up to 500 residential dwellings 
with all matters reserved with the exception of access 
and comprising of: The demolition of Thompsons Cottage 
and associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open space, sustainable 
urban drainage, green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general landscaping; A 
vehicular access point and emergency access point onto 
Bennetts Road North; Network of pedestrian and cycle 
routes; and All associated infrastructure and enabling 
works. 

Case Officer: Emma Spandley 
 
SUMMARY 
The application relates to a parcel of land that is contained within the housing allocation 
H2:1, called Keresley SUE.  The allocation is for a minimum of 3,100 dwellings. 
 
Application OUT/2019/0484 was submitted; heard at the 27th May 2021 Planning 
Committee meeting and subsequently approved the erection of up to 500 residential 
dwellings with all matters reserved with the exception of access. 
 
The redline site area for application OUT/2019/0484 extends to some 20.7ha.  The 
current application seeks permission for the outstanding details, called reserved matters, 
relating to the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the proposed houses.  The 
application proposes 328no dwellings out of the 500no dwellings approved pursuant to 
planning permission OUT/2019/0484 granted on 5th July 2022. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The site was previously designated Green Belt land; however, it was removed from the 
Green Belt following independent examination by an Inspector at Local Plan 
Examination in Public and allocated for Housing as a Sustainable Urban Extension 
(SUE).  The specific housing requirements are allocated under H2:1. 
 
Application OUT/2019/0484 was submitted; heard at the 27th May 2021 Planning 
Committee meeting and subsequently approved the erection of up to 500 residential 
dwellings with all matters reserved with the exception of access and comprising of: The 
demolition of Thompsons Cottage and associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open space, sustainable urban drainage, green 
networks, play space and associated structural and general landscaping; A vehicular 
access point and emergency access point onto Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All associated infrastructure and enabling works. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



 
 

The primary vehicular access to the site as approved under the outline is on the west 
side of Bennetts Road North with a secondary emergency access further south. The 
primary access is located approximately 20m northwest of the junction with Grove Lane 
which is located on the opposite side (west side) of Bennetts Road North. The emergency 
access is located approximately 30m south of the junction with Grove Lane.   The primary 
access will link to a central avenue which forms part of this current application. 
 
Application FUL/2022/1981, recently heard at 5th October 2023 Planning Committee, 
resolved to grant the details relating to the initial phase of infrastructure works, which 
comprised the primary access into the site along with the proposed surface water 
attenuation areas (SuDs). This decision notice was issued on 6th October 2023. 
 
This current application seeks permission for the outstanding details, called reserved 
matters, relating to the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the proposed 
houses.  The application proposes 328no. dwellings out of the 500no dwellings 
approved pursuant to planning permission OUT/2019/0484 granted on 5th July 2022. 
 
An additional application has been submitted for the reserved matters relating to the 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of 171no houses, application 
RMM/2022/2615 on the other parcel of land. 
 
Together these two reserved matters applications, the current application 
RMM/2022/1982 and RMM/2022/2615, provide for 499no dwellings as approved under 
the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484 granted on 5th July 2022. 
 
KEY FACTS 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

Over five objections against the officer recommendation 

Current use of site: Agricultural 
Proposed use of site: Residential 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning committee are recommended to grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions listed in the report and 
 
Delegate authority to the Strategic Lead Planning, in consultation with the chair of 
Planning Committee, to agree any amendments to these conditions, which are 
considered necessary. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 

 The proposal is consistent with an allocation in the development plan and is 
acceptable in principle.  

 The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety, residential amenity, 
air quality, ancient woodland or ecology. 

 The proposal accords with Policies DS1, DS3, DS4, H1, H2, H3, H4: H6, H9, 
GE1, GE3, GE4, DE1, HE2, JE7, HW1, AC1, AC2, AC3, AC4, AC5, EM1, EM2, 
EM3, EM4, EM5,  EM6, EM7 and IM1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, together 
with the aims of the NPPF. 

Page 4



 
 

 
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
As mentioned above, the current application, RMM/2022/1982, will link into another 
reserved matters applications, RMM/2022/2615, which seek permission for the 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the 171no. houses under outline 
permission, OUT/2019/0484 for the remaining portion of the site. 
 
On submission the application sought permission for 328no units.  However, during 
discussions this was reduced by one unit. 
 
The current application seeks permission for the outstanding details relating to the 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the proposed housing development for 
328no. properties. 
 
Planning Committee has already approved the main spine road into and around the site 
and the SuDs which are required to support the housing development under application 
FUL/2022/1981. 
 
This spine road will facilitate access to the development parcels.  Currently the entire 
outline permission has been split into two separate development parcels. 
 
This application relates to the majority of the site running from the north and west of the 
approved spine road, with the other application, RMM/2022/2615, providing houses on 
the southern and eastern side of the spine road. 
 
The proposals in overview will provide: 

 328no out of 500no dwellings approved on a strategic housing allocation. 
 The application has been designed in accordance with the SUE SPD. 
 The application is providing for a wide range of mix and styles of properties. 
 The application is proposing 25% affordable housing. 
 Strategic cycle routes within and connected in and around the site. 

The following table sets out the proposed bedroom numbers. 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom Total 
10no. 
dwellings 

42no. dwellings 142no. 
dwellings 

134no dwelling 328 

 
Split as follows between private and affordable housing. 

 
Private Housing 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom Total 
0 9no. dwellings 106no. 

dwellings 
131no dwelling 246 

 
Affordable Housing 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom Total 
10no. dwellings 33no. 

dwellings 
36no. dwellings 3no dwelling 82 

 

Page 5



 
 

Frontages of new houses have been planned so natural surveillance is provided to all 
public open space, pedestrian and cycle networks. 
 
A number of amendments have occurred to the layout in line with officers’ comments 
during the process of the application.  These include: - 

 The principal access road redesigned to incorporate the ’Avenue’ typology and 
the segregated LTN 1/20 compliant cycle and pedestrian route. 

 Changes in direction of the road network to encourage lower vehicular speeds. 
 Private drives adjusted. 
 Parking arrangement upgraded to include all car parking spaces outside the 

house they serve, runs of parking broken up with appropriate soft landscaping 
including rain gardens and tree pits. 

 The inclusion of well-connected sustainable movement network of routes within 
the site which link the site to the wider area. 

 The inclusion of tree lined roadways, and 
 The mix of affordable housing adjusted to now provide the policy compliant 

social rent properties including the larger 4-bedroom properties. 

 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
The entire application site, which falls under the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, sits 
on the administrative boundary with North Warwickshire is located on the western side of 
Bennetts Road North and to the North of Thompsons Road. The site is the northern most 
site within the Keresley SUE.  
 
The existing site is currently agricultural arable land and gently undulates with the lowest 
point located towards the centre of the eastern boundary. The site is divided into small 
fields separated by small hedgerows and related hedgerow trees. On the northern 
boundary is an existing hedgerow with trees which will be retained. Similarly, the existing 
hedgerow to the western boundary will be retained. Towards the centre of the site is an 
existing pond which is being retained.  
 
The reserved matters application has been split into two parcels.  Parcel 1 relates to the 
application RMM/2022/2615 and is located to the south of the approved spine road 
(FUL/2022/1981; Parcel 2 relates to the current application RMM/2022/1982 and is 
located to the north and west of the approved spine road. 
 
The current application seeks permission for the details relating to appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale pursuant to OUT/2019/0484 for the erection of 328no. 
dwellings on a parcel of the land approved under OUT/2019/0484. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



 
 

PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Application Number Description of Development Decision and 

Date 
OUT/2014/2282 Outline application for the erection of 

up to 800 dwellings, with associated 
Local Centre comprising Convenience 
Store (Class A1) Retail/Commercial 
Units (Class A1, A2, A3, A5 and/or D1); 
a Primary School; Public Open Space 
(including equipped play area); 
allotments; nature conservation area; 
and landscaping; with all matters 
reserved except for means of vehicular 
access to the site from Tamworth Road 
and Bennetts Road South. 

Approved 
12/02/2018 

RMM/2019/1030 Submission of reserved matters 
(layout, internal access arrangements, 
scale, appearance and landscape 
details) for Phase 1 comprising of 322 
dwellings and details of green 
infrastructure strategy for all phases 
(excluding third party land) and a 
temporary construction access 
pursuant to OUT/2014/2282 for up to 
800 dwellings, local centre, primary 
school, public open space (all matters 
reserved except vehicular access from 
Tamworth Road and Bennetts Road 
South). The outline application was an 
EIA application and an Environmental 
Statement was submitted with it. 

Approved 
20/11/2019 

S73/2020/0285 Variation of condition 8 (to allow one 
retail unit within the local centre to have 
floorspace up to 500 sq m) imposed 
upon outline permission 
OUT/2014/2282 for the erection of up 
to 800 dwellings, with associated Local 
Centre comprising Convenience Store 
(Class A1) Retail/Commercial Units 
(Class A1, A2, A3, A5 and/or D1); a 
Primary School; Public Open Space 
(including equipped play area); 
allotments; nature conservation area; 
and landscaping; The outline 
application was accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement 

Approved 
22/04/2020 

RM/2020/2399 Submission of reserved matters 
(layout, internal access arrangements, 
scale, appearance and landscaping) 

Approved 
29/11/2021 

Page 7



 
 

for Phases 2A and 2B comprising 394 
dwellings, pursuant to outline 
permission OUT/2014/2282. The 
outline application was accompanied 
by an Environmental Statement. 

RMM/2021/2514 Submission of reserved Matters in 
accordance with condition 1 for layout, 
internal access arrangements, scale, 
appearance and landscape details for 
local centre, comprising of 1,505sqm 
across seven units pursuant to 
planning permission S73/2020/0285 
granted on 22nd April 2020  for 
Variation of condition 8 (to allow one 
retail unit within the local centre to have 
floorspace up to 500 sq m) imposed 
upon outline permission 
OUT/2014/2282 for the erection of up 
to 800 dwellings, with associated Local 
Centre comprising Convenience Store 
(Class A1) Retail/Commercial Units 
(Class A1, A2, A3, A5 and/or D1); a 
Primary School; Public Open Space 
(including equipped play area); 
allotments; nature conservation area; 
and landscaping; The outline 
application was accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement. 

Approved 
26/10/2023 

S73M/2021/2515 Variation of condition No. 56 (Hours of 
Delivery)  and removal of condition No. 
31 (Requirement for Green Roofs) 
imposed on planning permission 
S73/2020/0285 -Variation of condition 
8 (to allow one retail unit within the 
local centre to have floorspace up to 
500 sq m) imposed upon outline 
permission OUT/2014/2282 for the 
erection of up to 800 dwellings, with 
associated Local Centre comprising 
Convenience Store (Class A1) 
Retail/Commercial Units (Class A1, 
A2, A3, A5 and/or D1); a Primary 
School; Public Open Space (including 
equipped play area); allotments; 
nature conservation area; and 
landscaping; The outline application 
was accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement, granted on 
22nd April 2020 

Approved 
24/10/2023 

Page 8



 
 

   
OUT/2019/0022 Outline application for the demolition of 

all existing buildings and the erection 
of up to 550 dwellings and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Tamworth Road and Fivefield Road, 
pedestrian/cycle and emergency 
accesses, diversion of public rights of 
way, highway improvements to 
Fivefield Road, parking, landscaping, 
drainage features, open space and 
associated infrastructure, with all 
matters to be reserved except access 
points into the site (in part). 

Approved 
07/02/2022 

RMM/2022/0633 Submission of Reserved Matters for 
280 dwellings off Fivefield Road, for all 
matters outstanding pursuant to 
permission OUT/2019/0022 granted 
on 07/02/2022 for the demolition of all 
existing buildings and the erection of 
up to 550 dwellings, and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Tamworth Road and Fivefield Road, 
pedestrian/cycle and emergency 
accesses, highway improvements to 
Fivefield Road, parking, landscaping, 
drainage features, open space and 
associated infrastructure, with all 
matters to be reserved except access 
points into the site 

Pending 

RMM/2022/0636 Submission of Reserved Matters for 35 
dwellings off Keresley Link Road, for 
all matters outstanding pursuant to 
permission OUT/2019/0022 granted 
on 7th February 2022 for the 
demolition of all existing buildings and 
the erection of up to 550 dwellings, and 
creation of associated vehicular 
accesses to Tamworth Road and 
Fivefield Road, pedestrian/cycle and 
emergency accesses, highway 
improvements to Fivefield Road, 
parking, landscaping, drainage 
features, open space and associated 
infrastructure, with all matters to be 
reserved except access points into the 
site. 

Approved 
27.10.2023 

RMM/2022/0678 Submission of Reserved Matters for 
201 dwellings off Tamworth Road, for 

Pending 

Page 9



 
 

all matters outstanding pursuant to 
permission OUT/2019/0022 granted 
on 7th February 2022 for the 
demolition of all existing buildings and 
the erection of up to 550 dwellings, and 
creation of associated vehicular 
accesses to Tamworth Road and 
Fivefield Road, pedestrian/cycle and 
emergency accesses, highway 
improvements to Fivefield Road, 
parking, landscaping, drainage 
features, open space and associated 
infrastructure, with all matters to be 
reserved except access points into the 
site 

RMM/2022/0679 Submission of Reserved Matters for 19 
dwellings off Tamworth Road, for all 
matters outstanding pursuant to 
permission OUT/2019/0022 granted 
on 7th February 2022 for the 
demolition of all existing buildings and 
the erection of up to 550 dwellings, and 
creation of associated vehicular 
accesses to Tamworth Road and 
Fivefield Road, pedestrian/cycle and 
emergency accesses, highway 
improvements to Fivefield Road, 
parking, landscaping, drainage 
features, open space and associated 
infrastructure, with all matters to be 
reserved except access points into the 
site 

Pending 

RMM/2022/0680 Submission of Reserved Matters for 
the Ancient Woodland Buffer off 
Tamworth Road, for all matters 
outstanding pursuant to permission 
OUT/2019/0022 granted on 7th 
February 2022 for the demolition of all 
existing buildings and the erection of 
up to 550 dwellings, and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Tamworth Road and Fivefield Road, 
pedestrian/cycle and emergency 
accesses, highway improvements to 
Fivefield Road, parking, landscaping, 
drainage features, open space and 
associated infrastructure, with all 
matters to be reserved except access 
points into the site. 

Approved 
03/08/2023 

Page 10



 
 

   
OUT/2019/0484 Outline permission for the erection of 

up to 500 residential dwellings with all 
matters reserved with the exception of 
access and comprising of: The 
demolition of Thompsons Cottage and 
associated buildings; Provision of 
green infrastructure including strategic 
open space, sustainable urban 
drainage, green networks, play space 
and associated structural and general 
landscaping; A vehicular access point 
and emergency access point onto 
Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All 
associated infrastructure and enabling 
works 

Approved 
05/07/2022 

FUL/2022/1981 Installation and formation of highway 
and drainage infrastructure works 
pursuant to OUT/2019/0484 granted 
on 05/07/2022 for erection of up to 500 
residential dwellings with all matters 
reserved with the exception of access 
and comprising of: The demolition of 
Thompsons Cottage and associated 
buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open 
space, sustainable urban drainage, 
green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general 
landscaping; A vehicular access point 
and emergency access point onto 
Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All 
associated infrastructure and enabling 
works. 

Approved 
06/10/2023 

RMM/2022/2615 Submission of Reserved Matters 
(appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale) for the erection of 171no. 
dwellings and associated infrastructure 
pursuant to planning permission 
OUT/2019/0484 granted on 
05/07/2022 for erection of up to 500 
residential dwellings with all matters 
reserved with the exception of access 
and comprising of: The demolition of 
Thompsons Cottage and associated 
buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open 

Pending 

Page 11



 
 

space, sustainable urban drainage, 
green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general 
landscaping; A vehicular access point 
and emergency access point onto 
Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All 
associated infrastructure and enabling 
works. 

   
OUT/2019/2277 Proposed residential development (up 

to 40 dwellings) with associated 
landscaping/open space, drainage and 
highway infrastructure (outline 
application - all matters reserved 
except access into the site) 

Approved 
06/03/2020 

RMM/2021/0314 Submission of reserved matters under 
condition 1 for details of appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale for 40 
dwellings together with associated 
landscaping/open space, drainage and 
highway infrastructure and temporary 
construction access from land to the 
northwest pursuant to planning 
permission OUT/2019/2277 granted 
on 6th March 2020 for outline 
permission with access. 
 

Approved 
13/07/2021 

   
FUL/2020/2615 Demolition of existing structures to 

facilitate residential development with 
associated access, parking, 
landscaping and drainage. 

Approved 
25/03/2021 

   
FUL/2020/0748 Erection of 388no. dwellings (C3), 

public open space, landscaping, 
drainage attenuation areas, access 
from Bennetts Road and Penny Park 
Lane, access roads, land safeguarded 
for a new Link Road, and other 
associated works. This application is 
accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement. 

Resolved to 
Approve 
Planning 
Committee 
02/11/23. 
 
 

   
FUL/2021/3173 Erection of two new dwellings with 

upgraded access and parking (Use 
Class C3) 

Approved 
02/02/2022 

   

Page 12



 
 

OUT/2022/0712 Outline application for the demolition of 
all existing buildings (save for Poddy 
Cottage) and the erection of up to 290 
dwellings and creation of associated 
vehicular accesses to Bennetts Road 
and Fivefield Road, pedestrian/cycle 
accesses, diversion of public rights of 
way, highway improvements, parking, 
landscaping, drainage features, open 
space, and associated infrastructure, 
with all matters to be reserved except 
vehicular access points into the site. 

Approved 
Planning 
Committee 23rd 
February 2023 
 
Decision Issued 
23/06/2023 

OUT/2022/0713 Outline application for the demolition of 
all existing buildings (save for Manor 
Farm Cottage) and the erection of up 
to 260 dwellings and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Bennetts Road, pedestrian/cycle 
accesses, highway improvements, 
parking, landscaping, drainage 
features, open space, and associated 
infrastructure, with all matters to be 
reserved except new vehicular access 
points into the site from Bennetts 
Road. 

Approved 
Planning 
Committee 23rd 
February 2023 
 
Decision Issued 
02/06/2023 

Hall Hill Cottages   
OUT/2022/3246 Outline planning permission with all 

matters reserved except for access, 
for the demolition of existing dwelling 
and associated agricultural units, and 
the erection of up to 40 residential 
dwellings (Use Class C3), with parking 
and associated works. 

Withdrawn 

PL/2023/00001155/OUTM Outline planning permission with all 
matters reserved except for access, 
for the demolition of existing dwelling 
and associated agricultural units, and 
the erection of up to 40 residential 
dwellings (Use Class C3), with parking 
and associated works (Resubmission 
OUT/2022/3246). 

Pending 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 
 

The most relevant applications are: 
OUT/2019/0484 Outline permission for the erection of up to 500 

residential dwellings with all matters reserved 
with the exception of access and comprising of: 
The demolition of Thompsons Cottage and 
associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open space, 
sustainable urban drainage, green networks, 
play space and associated structural and 
general landscaping; A vehicular access point 
and emergency access point onto Bennetts 
Road North; Network of pedestrian and cycle 
routes; and All associated infrastructure and 
enabling works 

Approved 
05/07/2022 

FUL/2022/1981 Installation and formation of highway and 
drainage infrastructure works pursuant to 
OUT/2019/0484 granted on 05/07/2022 for 
erection of up to 500 residential dwellings with 
all matters reserved with the exception of 
access and comprising of: The demolition of 
Thompsons Cottage and associated buildings; 
Provision of green infrastructure including 
strategic open space, sustainable urban 
drainage, green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general landscaping; 
A vehicular access point and emergency 
access point onto Bennetts Road North; 
Network of pedestrian and cycle routes; and All 
associated infrastructure and enabling works. 

Approved 
06/10/2023 

RMM/2022/2615 Submission of Reserved Matters (appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale) for the erection 
of 171no. dwellings and associated 
infrastructure pursuant to planning permission 
OUT/2019/0484 granted on 05/07/2022 for 
erection of up to 500 residential dwellings with 
all matters reserved with the exception of 
access and comprising of: The demolition of 
Thompsons Cottage and associated buildings; 
Provision of green infrastructure including 
strategic open space, sustainable urban 
drainage, green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general landscaping; 
A vehicular access point and emergency 
access point onto Bennetts Road North; 
Network of pedestrian and cycle routes; and All 
associated infrastructure and enabling works. 

Pending 

 

Page 14



 
 

POLICY 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out the 
Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent that is relevant, 
proportionate and necessary to do so.  The NPPF increases the focus on achieving 
high quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve”. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) adds further context to the NPPF and 
it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policy relating to 
this application is: 

 Policy DS1:  Overall Development Needs 
 Policy DS3:  Sustainable Development Policy 
 Policy DS4:  (Part A) – General Masterplan Principles 
 Policy DS4:  (Part C) – Keresley SUE Specific Masterplan Principles 
 Policy H1:  Housing Land Requirements 
 Policy H2:  Housing Allocations 
 Policy H4:  Securing a Mix of Housing 
 Policy H6:  Affordable Housing 
 Policy H9:  Residential Density 
 Policy GE1  Green Infrastructure 
 Policy GE3:  Biodiversity, Geological, Landscape and Archaeological 

Conservation 
 Policy GE4:  Tree Protection 
 Policy DE1  Ensuring High Quality Design 
 Policy AC1:  Accessible Transport Network 
 Policy AC2:  Road Network 
 Policy AC3:  Demand Management 
 Policy AC4:  Walking and Cycling 
 Policy EM1:  Planning for Climate Change Adaptation 
 Policy EM4  Flood Risk Management 
 Policy EM5  Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
 Policy EM7  Air Quality 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 

 SPD Affordable Housing 
 SPD Air Quality 
 SPD Coventry Connected 
 SPD Sustainable Urban Extension Design Guidance 
 SPD Design guidance for new residential development 
 SPD Trees and Development Guidelines for Coventry 

 

Page 15



 
 

CONSULTATION 
No Objections received from: 

 Archaeology 

No objections subject to conditions have been received from: 
 Drainage 
 Economic Development 
 Environmental Protection 
 Highways 
 Housing Policy 
 Parks 
 Urban Design 
 West Midlands Fire Service 
 West Midlands Police 

Immediate neighbours and local councillors were originally notified on 10th October 
2022 a site notice was posted and a press notice was published in the Coventry 
Telegraph on 20th October 2022 
 
4no. letters of objection were received, raising the following material planning 
consideration. 

 Impact on drainage and flooding 

However, a number of non-material planning considerations (in the context of this being 
a reserved matters application) were raised: - 

 Principle of the development 
 Loss of Green Belt  
 Not enough infrastructure 
 Loss of wildlife 
 Traffic and congestion  
 Air Quality 
 Loss of hedgerows 

A further round of consultation took place on amended drawings on 12th June 2023 
 
7no. letters of objection were received, raising the following material planning 
considerations: 

 Impact on noise and disturbance to surrounding existing residential properties. 
 Impact on existing houses through overlooking and loss of privacy. 
 Lack of single storey properties 

The objections also raised a repeat of all the non-material planning considerations 
mentioned above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



 
 

APPRAISAL 
The main issues in determining this application are: 

 Principle of Development 
 Parameters Conditions 
 Housing Mix 
 Affordable Housing 
 Open Space and Parks 

o Open Space – Development Provision 
o Local Equipment Area for Play (LEAP) 

 Highways, Access and Parking 
o Accesses 
o Pedestrian and Cycle Access 
o Sustainable Transport Routes 
o Bus Provision 
o Parking 
o Visitor Parking 

 Layout 
o Keresley Link Road (KLR) 
o Internal Roads 
o Lanes 
o Courtyards 
o Edge Roads 
o Proposal 

 Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees 
o Ecology and Biodiversity 
o Trees 

 Drainage 
 Design, Scale, Massing and Layout 
 Air Quality 
 Noise 
 Contaminated Land 
 Archaeology 
 Developer Contributions 
 Equality Matters 

 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
The principle of the redevelopment of the site for residential purposes was first 
established under Policy H2 of the Coventry Local Plan which allocated this site and the 
surrounding area for housing as a Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE). The specific 
housing requirements are allocated under H2:1. 
 
The principle of developing the site for residential uses has been established under the 
outline permission OUT/2019/0484.   
 
OUT/2019/0484, granted on 5th July 2022, the erection of up to 500 residential 
dwellings with all matters reserved with the exception of access and comprising of: The 
demolition of Thompsons Cottage and associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open space, sustainable urban drainage, green 

Page 17



 
 

networks, play space and associated structural and general landscaping; A vehicular 
access point and emergency access point onto Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All associated infrastructure and enabling works. 
 
All the comments are noted with regards to the loss of the Green Belt land, flawed census 
figures and the need for the development; impact on infrastructure etc, however as these 
matters have been determined under the outline permission, which approved the 
redevelopment of the area for housing, these matters cannot be reassessed in the current 
application which seeks approval for the details of the appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale of 328no houses as approved under the outline permission. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 11, states that “Plans and decisions 
should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For Decision Making, 
this means: - 

 approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or 

 where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect 
areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
this Framework taken as a whole.” Footnote 8 to paragraph 11 confirms that this 
includes situations where the local authority cannot demonstrate a five-year 
supply of deliverable housing sites. 

The Coventry Local Plan was formally adopted on 6th December 2017. Since it was 
adopted, the Government introduced the Standard Method, a standardised way of 
calculating minimum housing need. As the Local Plan is now more than five years old the 
Standard Method is now the determining factor when considering local housing need. 
When using the Standard Method, the Council is not able to demonstrate a five-year 
housing land supply. As such, the tilted balance is engaged and therefore planning 
permission should be granted, unless “any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits” when assessed against the policies 
of the NPPF taken as a whole. 
 
This current application relates to the erection of 328no dwellings. 
 
The outline permission approved a number of parameters plans, these drawings 
approved the main vehicular access into the site together with the indicative main 
avenue road and the locations of the proposed SuDs and the number of trees and 
hedgerows to be removed.  Application FUL/2022/1981 approved the details of the 
main infrastructure required to support the housing allocation. 
 
Therefore, the principal of developing the site for up to 500no. dwellings and the 
associated infrastructure is acceptable in principal and in accordance with the outline 
permission thus far. 
 
PARAMETER CONDITIONS 

Page 18



 
 

Condition No.4 attached to the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, required the reserved 
matters to come forward in accordance with the following approved plans: -  

 Access and Movement Parameters Plan P16- 0926_10-01D; 
 Land Use Parameter Plan P16 -0926_10-03D; 
 Building Heights Parameters Plan P16 -0926_10-02B,  
 Site Location Plan P16- 0926_05E; 
 General Arrangement Site Access Drawing 02427-A-004-P0 
 shall have full regard to the Sustainable Urban Extension Design Guidance 

SPD and include the following specific requirements:  
(i) provision of a children’s equipped play area;  
(ii) retention of trees, tree groups and hedgerows indicated for retention in the 

submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment Sep 2019;  
(iii) Inclusion of car club spaces for the SUE wide car club; 
(iv) Provision of a 'super bus stop' within the site;  
(v) Provision of cycle hire storage facility. 

 
The application was support by a number of drawings and reports.   
 
AMENDED DRAWING - Sketch Layout - Drawing No.EM038-PD-005JJ accords with 
the approved location plan – Drawing No. P16- 0926_05E and the Access and 
Movement Parameter Plan – Drawing No. P16- 0926_10-01D approved under the 
outline permission, OUT/2019/0484. 
 
Whether the application is in accordance with the Access and Movement Parameters 
Plan will be discussed under the Highways section.  The retention of trees, tree groups 
and hedgerows indicated for retention in the submitted Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment Sep 2019 will be discussed under the Tree section. 
 
The remining part of Condition No.4 attached to OUT/2019/0022 namely: 
 shall have full regard to the Sustainable Urban Extension Design Guidance SPD 

and include the following specific requirements:  
o provision of a children’s equipped play area;  
o retention of trees, tree groups and hedgerows indicated for retention in the 

submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment Sep 2019;  
o Inclusion of car club spaces for the SUE wide car club; 
o Provision of a 'super bus stop' within the site;  
o Provision of cycle hire storage facility. 

 
Shall be discussed in more detail under the following headings: 
 shall have full regard to the Sustainable Urban Extension Design Guidance SPD 

and include the following specific requirements – Design and Visual. 
o provision of a children’s equipped play area - - Parks and Open space 
o retention of trees, tree groups and hedgerows indicated for retention in the 

submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment Sep 2019 - Ecology, 
Biodiversity and Trees 

o Inclusion of car club spaces for the SUE wide car club - Highways, Access 
and Parking. 

Page 19



 
 

o Provision of a 'super bus stop' within the site – Highways, Access and 
Parking. 

o Provision of cycle hire storage facility – Highways, Access and Parking. 

The following conditions are also attached to the outline permission which requires the 
submission of further details to be submitted with the reserved matters applications.   
 
Condition No.12 - Noise assessments shall be submitted with reserved matters 
applications for each phase of development. The assessments will demonstrate by 
calculation that internal noise levels for the proposed residential property meet the 
'Good' criteria set out in British Standard 8233 'Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction 
for Buildings' together with any mitigation measures that are required to achieve this. 
The report shall also demonstrate that outdoor garden and leisure areas associated 
with this development meet the 55dB limit as required by the World Health Organisation 
(WHO). Prior to the first occupation of the buildings any necessary mitigation measures 
shall have been implemented in full accordance with the recommendations of the noise 
assessment and thereafter shall not be removed or altered in any way. 
 
This will be discussed under the Noise section. 
 
Condition No.17 - The following shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
together with reserved matters applications for each phase of development: 

a) Arboricultural Impact Assessment (5.4) to assess the direct and indirect 
implications of trees upon the proposal and visa-versa, including locations for 
under-ground/ over-ground services, level changes within RPA's etc.; 

b) Arboricultural Method Statement (6.1); and 
c) a Dimensioned Tree Protection Plan (to include protection measures during and 

after construction and any construction exclusion zones) (in accordance with 5.5/ 
Table B.1), site monitoring (6.3) of British Standard BS5837:2012 - Trees in 
relation to design demolition and construction - Recommendations, which shall 
also include any proposal for pruning or other preventative works. The approved 
mitigation and / or protection measures shall be put into place prior to the 
commencement of any works and shall remain in place during all construction 
work. 

 
This will be discussed under the Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees section. 
 
Condition No.21 - Notwithstanding the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 
Strategy, the following shall be submitted to the local planning authority together with 
each reserved matters application: 

i) A scheme for the provision of surface water drainage, incorporating SuDS 
attenuation techniques. There must be consideration of features such as 
green roofs, rain gardens and swales, for the management of surface water 
peak and total flows, biodiversity and water filtering, in accordance with 
Coventry City Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Document for 
'Delivering a More Sustainable City'. 

ii) A detailed strategy for the long-term maintenance of the SuDS and other 
surface water drainage systems on site. 

Page 20



 
 

iii) Development discharge rates to be managed to Qbar greenfield rates 
minus 20%. The discharge rates for brownfield sites shall be considered as 
greenfield in accordance with the SFRA. 

iv) Evidence the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change events will be held 
within the site boundaries. 

v) Provisions must be made for the drainage of the site to ensure there are no 
temporary increases in flood risk, on or off site, during the construction 
phase. 

vi) Provisions must be made for the drainage of the site to ensure there is no 
discharge of surface water to the Public Highway. 

vii) All proposed outfalls must be confirmed and agreed with the Lead Local 
Flood Authority prior to the commencement of work on site. 

viii) Evidence that receiving water bodies or sewers are capable of accepting 
the attenuated flows specified by the Lead Local Flood Authority and that this 
will not exacerbate the flood risk on or off site. This will include capacity 
calculations and outcomes, not just the correspondence from Severn Trent 
Water Ltd in isolation, accepting the point discharges. Evidence of existing 
sub catchments within the site are needed to support the connectivity survey 
and confirm the acceptability of proposed point discharges to the 
watercourses and infrastructure sewers. This must be submitted to, and 
agreed by, the Local Planning Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority 

ix) Single discharge points will be discouraged on larger sites, as discharge 
points are to be located to best mimic the natural discharge condition. 

x) A minimum 5m way leave must be provided from the top bank of any 
ordinary watercourse and open water bodies. 

xi) The development must be considered for the implementation of permeable 
paving or similar permeable material for the management of total surface 
water flows, and water filtering in accordance with Coventry City Council's 
adopted Supplementary Planning Document for 'Delivering a More 
Sustainable City'. 

xii) Evidence to show the management of overland flow routes in the event of 
exceedance or blockage to the drainage system. Details should include 
demonstration of how the building will be protected in such an event. Finished 
floor slab levels must be 300mm above the 1 in 100-year pluvial flood levels. 

xiii) Where new or redevelopment site levels result in the severance, 
diversion or the reception of natural land drainage flow, the developer shall 
maintain existing flow routes (where there are no flood risk or safety 
implications) or intercept these flows and discharge these by a method 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

xiv) The drainage strategy should not result in top water levels of attenuation 
structures being above the natural ground level and must achieve a 300mm 
freeboard, in relation to this existing ground level, at the 1 in 100 year plus 
climate change event. 

xv) Where an attenuation structure is located adjacent to Public Highway 
boundary, the applicant should demonstrate the structural adequacy of the 
attenuation structure to safeguard Public Highway. 

xvi) Foul drainage plans 
 

This will be discussed under the Drainage section. 
 

Page 21



 
 

HOUSING MIX 
Policy H4 of the Coventry Local Plan requires proposals for residential development to 
include a mix of market housing which contributes towards a balance of house types 
and sizes across the city as set out within the ‘Coventry & Warwickshire Housing & 
Economic Development Needs Assessment’ (HEDNA), dated November 2022. 
 
The HEDNA suggests a mix of market housing as the following: 
1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4+ bedrooms 
10% 40% 40% 10% 

 
The following table sets out the proposed bedroom numbers. 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom Total 
10no. 
dwellings 

42no. dwellings 142no. 
dwellings 

134no dwelling 328 

 
Split as follows between private and affordable housing. 
 
Private Housing 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom Total 
0 9no. dwellings 106no. 

dwellings 
131no dwelling 246 

 
Affordable Housing 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom Total 
10no. dwellings 33no. 

dwellings 
36no. dwellings 3no dwelling 82 

 
The table below shows the percentage of the housing mix and how it compares with the 
suggested mix within the HEDNA. 
 
No. of 
Bedrooms 

Total % as 
proposed 

% HEDNA 

1no. 10no. 3.05% 10% 
2no. 42no. 12.80% 40% 
3no. 142no. 43.29% 40% 
4no. 134no. 40.85% 10% 

 
The table highlights that the site is providing more 4+ houses then the HEDNA 
suggests, and less one and two bedrooms. 
 
The HEDNA is a suggestion for a housing mix across the City, however in assessing 
the proposals officers are mindful of the location, being a green field site, which is better 
able to accommodate the larger family houses whereas some other sites in the existing 
urban area will not be able to.  Taking all of the above into account, on balance the 
application is in accordance with Policy H4. 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 
 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
The outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, granted the permission to develop the site for 
housing.  Attached to the outline permission is a S106 agreement, Schedule 1 
Affordable Housing Obligations secures 25% affordable housing, to be in accordance 
with the adopted Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
 
The requirement is therefore 25% of 328 houses which is 82no. 
 
The application proposes the following affordable housing provision. 
 

No. of 
Bedrooms 

Social Rent  Intermediate 
(Discounted 
low cost) 

Affordable 
Rent 

Affordable 
Housing 
Total 

% 

1no. 10 0 0 10no. 12.20% 
2no. 0 16 17 33no. 40.24% 
3no. 12 17 7 36no. 43.90% 
4no. 3 0 0 3no.   3.66% 
Total 25 33 24 82no.  

 
Whilst there are only three 4 bed affordable units overall, they are all social rented units 
and the social rented mix has over half of the units as three and four bed units, which 
serves those most in need. 
 
There are no four-bedroomed affordable rent or intermediate units as they would not be 
truly affordable for people in housing need.  
 
 
OPEN SPACE AND PARKS 
Open Space – Development Provision 
Policy GE1 of the Coventry Local Plan states new development proposals should make 
provision for green infrastructure to ensure that such development is integrated into the 
landscape and contributes to improvements in connectivity and public access, 
biodiversity, landscape conservation, design, archaeology and recreation. 
 
As stated above, Condition No.4 attached to the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, 
required the entire redline area of the outline to provide for at least one children’s 
equipped play area, called a LEAP. 
 
The current application seeks permission for the outstanding reserved matters associated 
with appearance, landscaping, layout and scale in relation to 328no dwellings out of the 
500no dwellings approved under OUT/2019/0484. 
 
Due to the size and constraints of the sister application RMM/2022/2615, the Local 
Equipment Area for Play (LEAP) will be located within this application site. 
 
Local Equipment Area for Play (LEAP) 
A LEAP play area is an area of open space specifically designated, laid out and 
equipped with play equipment mainly for older children but should also have play 
opportunities for younger children as well as children with disabilities. It should provide 

Page 23



 
 

play equipment as well as a hard surfaced area for ball games or possibly wheeled 
activities such as roller skating or cycling. 
  
FiT gives a standard size of approx. 400sqm of playing space as a minimum although a 
larger area would be of more use as there could be the chance to include some fitness 
equipment as well as the play area, which would be of benefit to the residents if this 
development. Location for any fitness equipment could be either alongside the LEAP or 
spread around the open space as part of a walking route / trim trail route younger 
children as well as children with disabilities. It should provide play equipment as well as 
a hard surfaced area for ball games or possibly wheeled activities such as roller skating 
or cycling. 
 
FiT recommend that any LEAP sized play facility has a 20m minimum separation 
between the activity zone and the habitable room façade of dwellings. Location is key 
as it needs to be not too close to residential properties but not hidden out of view where 
anti-social behaviour can happen unobserved. 
 
The LEAP will be provided on this reserved matters application parcel.  AMENDED 
DRAWING - Sketch Layout - Drawing No.EM038-PD-005JJ, shows the location of the 
LEAP.  It is located off the main ‘Avenue’ which runs into the site, adjacent to the 
existing pond. 
 
The full details of the equipment to be provided can be controlled by a suitably worded 
condition. 
 
 
HIGHWAYS, ACCESS AND PARKING 
Policy AC1 ‘Accessible Transport Network’ states that development proposals which 
are expected to generate additional trips on the transport network should:  
a) Integrate with existing transport networks including roads, public transport and 
walking and cycling routes to promote access by a choice of transport modes.  
b) Consider the transport and accessibility needs of everyone living, working or visiting 
the city.  
c) Support the delivery of new and improved high-quality local transport networks which 
are closely integrated into the built form.  
d) Actively support the provision and integration of emerging and future intelligent 
mobility infrastructure. 
 
Policy AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan states: new development proposals which are 
predicted to have a negative impact on the capacity and/or safety of the highway 
network should mitigate and manage the traffic growth which they are predicted to 
generate to ensure that they do not cause unacceptable levels of traffic congestion, 
highway safety problems and poor air quality. Highway mitigation and management 
measures should focus firstly on demand management measures (Policy AC3) 
including the promotion of sustainable modes of travel, and secondly on the delivery of 
appropriate highway capacity interventions. Highway capacity interventions should be 
appropriate to the scale of development and expected impact and will be determined 
through the associated Transport Assessment. 
 
 

Page 24



 
 

Accesses 
The outline permission, OUT/2019/0484 approved the main access and the secondary, 
emergency access to the site as shown on approved drawing Access and Movement 
Parameter Plan – Drawing No. P16- 0926_10-01D. 
 
FUL/2022/1981 approved the details of the main access into the site together with the 
main road loop into and back out of the site. 
 
A subsequent discharge of condition application PL/2023/0001216/DCA has been 
submitted which seeks to discharge the engineering details of the approved access 
under the outline (OUT/2019/0484) and the subsequent full application 
(FUL/2022/1981) which approved the main infrastructure for the site.   
 
The access details are also currently in the final stages of their technical approval under 
the Highways Act 1980 (S278).  A section 278 agreement (or s278) is a section of 
the Highways Act 1980 that allows developers to enter into a legal agreement with the 
council (in the capacity as the Local Highway Authority (LHA)) to make permanent 
alterations or improvements to a public highway, as part of a planning approval. 
 
The principle of the main access is approved. 
 
Pedestrian and Cycle Access 
It will be more appropriate to provide the highest quality cycle infrastructure within the 
main access road corridor.  
 
The main road through the site has been approved under FUL/2022/981. 
 
Accordingly, a 3m cycle track and 2m footway is provided on one side with the other 
being a 2m wide footway, with the appropriate separation margins between the 
carriageway and the cycle track and footways. 
 
Off this ‘Avenue’ road there are several spurs which access to the housing proposed 
within this application.   
 
All roads have been tracked with a refuse vehicle and fire engines and a Road Safety 
Audit (RSA) has been completed and approved by the Local Highway Authority (LHA). 
 
As amended the Local Highway Authority (LHA) raises no objections to the proposed 
layout. 
 
Sustainable Transport Routes 
Aside from the avenue typology road mentioned above, there are a number of shared 
pedestrian and cycle paths which dissect the site. 
 
The existing Public Right of Way (PRoW) runs along the northern boundary.  The first 
few metres are located outside the red line boundary.  Adjacent to the PRoW, which 
currently runs along a ditch which floods, is one of the SUDs approved under 
FUL/2022/1981.  An additional path is being provided within the site which will skirts the 
perimeter of this particular SUDs and then meets back up with the existing PRoW.  The 
PRoW, then runs westwards in the site, hugging the existing field boundary, it will be 

Page 25



 
 

upgraded, and several opportunities will be present where users will be able to travel into 
and around the site. 
 
A further cycle / pedestrian route is then provided along the western boundary of the site 
which will meet up with the existing PRoW at Thompsons Lane. 
 
A shared footpath / cycleway will be provided along the western side of Bennetts Road 
North, which links into the existing footpath off site, which links into the sister application 
RMM/2022/2615. 
 
Bus Provision 
Travel for West Midlands (TfWM) do not object to the application due to a collaborative 
approach being taken for the entire SUE.  S106 monies were secured which will extend 
the No.16 / 16A service, under the outline permission.  Furthermore, a bus stop and 
shelter are also being provided in the site. 
 
Parking 
The Coventry Connected SPD which contains amended appendix 5 of the Coventry Local 
Plan states for one bedroomed property, one car parking space is required and for all 2+ 
bedroomed properties, two off road car parking spaces are required. 
  
All the properties have the required amount of parking. 
 
Visitor Parking 
Amended Appendix 5, of the Coventry Local Plan sets out the requirement for visitor 
spaces as one unallocated space per five, one bedroomed dwellings, a two bedroomed 
property require one unallocated space per ten dwellings and one unallocated space per 
five three bedroomed dwellings. 
 
The application requires 61no spaces with 63no officially unallocated spaces are shown, 
and one space for the car club. 
 
On this basis, the proposed dwellings each have the maximum requirement of off-road 
parking spaces per each house and the required number of visitor spaces.  The 
application is in accordance with Policy AC3 of the Coventry Local Plan and the Coventry 
Connected SPD. 
 
Conclusion 
Members can be assured that the entire Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) at Keresley 
has been robustly modelled in terms of its traffic impacts on the local and strategic 
highway network.  All appropriate mitigation has been agreed with not only the Local 
Highway Authority (LHA) but also neighbouring Highway Authorities (Warwickshire 
County Council (WCC)) and National Highways who are in charge of the national 
strategic highway network. 
 
The access into the site from Bennetts Road have been agreed under the outline 
permission, OUT/2019/0484. The full constructional and engineering details have been 
approved under FUL/2022/1981. 
 

Page 26



 
 

The Public Rights of Way (PRoWs) have been realigned and incorporated into the 
development within their own landscape corridors.   
 
Pedestrian and cycle routes are provided in and around the site.  The site provides a safe 
route for people to walk and cycle. 
 
The existing bus provision is being extended, funded by all the parcels of the SUE, 
including this current application.  One bike hire stations is being provided within the site 
and spaces for a car club. 
 
Each residential property is being provided with the policy compliment parking, with all 
one-bedroom properties having one dedicated car parking spaces and all two plus 
bedroomed properties having at least two dedicated parking spaces. There are also no 
visitor spaces dotted around the site. 
 
Taking all of the above into account, the application is in accordance with the 
aforementioned policies of the Coventry Local Plan together with the aims and objectives 
of the NPPF. 
 
 
LAYOUT 
Policy DS4 (Part A) – General Masterplan principles states where the site is identified as 
an allocation within the Local Plan it should plan positively to meet in full the requirements 
identified within the relevant policies associated with the allocation. Where the proposal 
represents a phase or phases of a wider scheme however, the quantum of development 
should reflect the relative size and characteristics of the phase, including its position 
within the wider site. 
 
Policy DS4 (Part C) - In addition to the general principles outlined in Policy DS4 (Part A) 
of the Coventry Local Plan, the development proposals which relate to this area should 
also have regard to the relevant requirements which include the incorporation of the 
recommendations of the Council’s SUE Design Guidance SPD.  Identify clear access 
points to the site and make appropriate provisions for new transport infrastructure and 
highway improvements to support the comprehensive delivery of the site. This should 
include: a) The provision of a new Link Road in accordance with Policy H2. The Link 
Road should be operational to traffic prior to the full completion of all development 
components within the SUE; b) The delivery of the Link Road should not be to the 
detriment of ProLogis Park; and c) The management of the existing highway junctions at 
Bennetts Road, Tamworth Road, Fivefield Road, Sandpits Lane, Thompsons Lane, Long 
Lane and Watery Lane to ensure they continue to operate in a safe and appropriate way. 
 
As originally submitted, there were a number of issues raised with regards to the 
proposed layout from a highway safety and urban design point of view.  On submission 
the roads took a very uniformed approach, with no variation in building lines. 
 
As set out within the Urban Extension Design Guide SPD which is intended to provide a 
clear guide and steer for how new larger developments within the area should be 
designed and delivered. 
 

Page 27



 
 

The SPD sets out a street hierarchy as: - 
 Keresley Link Road 
 Avenue 
 Internal Roads 
 Lanes 
 Courtyards 
 Edge Roads 

Keresley Link Road (KLR) 
This road is not relevant to this site.  The KLR is located further south and connects 
Tamworth Road to Bennetts Road, so far. 
 
Avenue 
The Avenues act as the main access road into the site, this are less formal then the 
KLR, but still provides a 3m cycle track and 2m footway is provided on one side and 
with a 2m footway on the other side.   
 
Internal Roads 
Internal roads are intended to act as the main access route into medium sized 
development parcels or as an interface between boulevards and the more intimate less 
formal routes and spaces. They share the same characteristics as avenues – footways 
with kerb upstands and conventional carriageways. 
 
Lanes 
Lanes are more intimate shared spaces where there is no designated footway or 
carriageway. They should have no overtly direct vehicle route through, with trees, 
planting beds and street furniture placed in such a way as to slow vehicle speeds. They 
are narrower in width than Internal Roads and are surfaced with more materials such as 
blocks, resin bonded gravel or coloured tarmac as these will re-enforce the more 
informal nature of this street type and help create a more intimate feel and character. 
 
Courtyards 
Courtyard clusters of dwellings present the opportunity to reflect/reinterpret the 
farmyard typology that is prevalent throughout the Arden area. 
 
Edge Roads 
Edge roads will play an important part in both integrating the new developments with 
the wider open countryside whilst at the same time providing the views from the open 
countryside into the new development. 
 
Proposal 
The main road, accessing the site from Bennetts Road, forms a loop into the site and 
the tails off to the west.  This road takes the form of the ‘Avenue’ typology and has been 
approved under FUL/2022/1981.  The current application will have accesses from the 
main avenue road in the form of lanes.   
 
The application has been tracked with a fire tender and refuse vehicles.  

Page 28



 
 

Taking all of the above into account, the application is in accordance with the 
aforementioned policies of the Coventry Local Plan together with the aims and objectives 
of the NPPF. 
 
 
ECOLOGY, BIODIVERSITY AND TREES 
Ecology and Biodiversity 
Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan states that Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSIs), Local Nature Reserves (LNRs), Ancient Woodlands, Local Wildlife and 
Geological Sites will be protected and enhanced. 
 
Policy GE3 establishes that developments should provide a net gain and where this is 
not possible provide some form of offsetting.   
 
The comments relating to biodiversity are noted. 
 
The outline application, OUT/2019/0484, assessed the impact of the proposed 
development. A Biodiversity Impact Assessment was submitted with the outline 
application.  Based on that indicative masterplan and the associated open space 
information the proposed development was concluded to result in the loss of 
approximately 2.52 units representing only 6.2% of the existing habitat. 
 
The biodiversity loss is compensated against by a contribution via the S.106 agreement 
attached to the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484. 
 
The contribution required the sum of £101,287.00 to be paid to the council to mitigate the 
impacts of the development on biodiversity. 
 
Trees 
Policy GE4 of the Coventry Local Plan states that trees make a valuable contribution to 
the city’s green landscape. New developments should seek to retain existing trees and 
other landscape features, incorporating them into a high-quality design and landscape 
proposals where possible. Should loss be unavoidable, compensatory provision of new 
trees should be proposed as part of a well-designed landscape scheme. 
 
Condition No.4, imposed on the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, set a number of 
parameters that the application has to meet. 
 
4(ii) - Retention of trees, tree groups and hedgerows indicated for retention in the 
submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment September 2019 
 
Condition No.17, of the outline permission (OUT/2019/0484) also requires the 
submission of an Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA), an Arboricultural Method 
Statement (AMS) and a dimensioned Tree Protection Plan (TPP). 
 
The application has been supported by  

 DRAWING - Tree Survey Plan - Drawing No.10485-T-01 
 DRAWING - Tree Survey Plan (Appendix A - Tree Schedule) 

Page 29



 
 

 AMENDED REPORT - Arboricultural Assessment - Bloor Parcel, dated 17th 
November 2023 - Report Ref:D. 

The outline permission required at Condition No.4(ii) the retention of trees, tree groups 
and hedgerows indicated for retention in the submitted Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment September 2019. 
 
The above Arboricultural Assessment shows the site had a total of 20no. individual 
trees, eight groups of trees and 11no. hedgerows which were within and close to the 
application boundary. 
 
During the consideration of FUL/2022/1981 it became apparent that a number of trees 
had been vandalised.  Relevant to this application is T10 which was shown to be 
retained and indeed the area where the tree is located is still being retained as public 
open space.  However, the tree is required to be felled for arboricultural reasons only. 
 
Therefore, the only difference between the outline and the reserved matters from a tree 
retention perspective is the loss of T10. 
 
On this basis, the application is considered to be in accordance with the outline 
permission and the aforementioned of the Coventry Local Plan. 
 
 
DRAINAGE 
Policy EM4 of the Coventry Local Plan states all major development must be assessed 
in respect of the level of floor risk from all sources. 
 
Policy EM5 of the Coventry Local Plan states all development must apply SuDS and 
should ensure that surface water runoff is managed as close to its source as possible. 
 
The sustainable urban drainage (SUDs) proposed to support the housing development 
covered by this current application and the other reserved matters application 
RMM/2022/1982, has been approved under FUL/2022/1981. 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority were satisfied with the surface water drainage proposals 
and no objections are raised against the current application subject to conditions. 
 
 
DESIGN, SCALE, MASSING AND LAYOUT 
Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan seeks to ensure high quality design and 
development proposals must respect and enhance their surroundings and positively 
contribute towards the local identity and character of an area. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 130 states that “Planning policies 
and decisions should ensure that developments: 

a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short 
term but over the lifetime of the development; 

b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping; 

Page 30



 
 

c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities); 

d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and 
distinctive places to live, work and visit; 

e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and 
support local facilities and transport networks; and 

f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health 
and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and 
where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of 
life or community cohesion and resilience. 

The NPPF further states (at paragraph 134) “Permission should be refused for 
development of that is not well designed that fails to reflect local design policies and 
government guidance on design.  Conversely, significant weight should be given to: 

a) development which reflects local design policies and government guidance on 
design; and/or 

b) outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability or 
help raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit in 
with the overall form and layout of their surroundings. 

LPAs should seek to ensure that the quality of approved development is not materially 
diminished between permission and completion, as a result of changes being made to 
the permitted scheme (for example through changes to approved details such as the 
materials used).” (Paragraph 135no.). 
 
On submission the house types were considered lacking in ancient Arden details.  As 
amended a diverse approach to housing design has now been provided.  This ensures 
that there is a variety of character and texture across the developments as opposed to 
a homogeneous swathe of development.  The house types include pitch gabled roofs, 
blue brick bases, a complimentary brick along with variation of external materials with 
the inclusion of weatherboarding and render. 
 
The way in which dwellings sit alongside each other, how they address corners and 
bends, the location and design of bin and cycle storage and the location of any retaining 
structures has also been extensively considered with the proposal now more closely 
following the street hierarchy as set out within the SUE SPD.  This has enabled the 
different character areas to be bought out. 
 
The proposal provides suitable garden areas for all houses and all flats either have a 
private balcony or a private garden area. 
 
All properties have the required number of off-road car parking spaces and there are 
sufficient visitor spaces being provided around the site. 
 
All separation distances are met within and outside the site.  There is no impact on 
existing neighbouring properties through visual intrusion or loss of light. 
 

Page 31



 
 

Members will note the application was first validated in 2022.   Officers have worked 
extensively with the applicant, who have been amenable to the suggestions put 
forward.  The proposals have been through various iterations and revisions.  The 
layouts have been tracked for a bin lorry and fire engine; updated tree constraints plans 
have been submitted which show how the development can come forward whilst not 
only retaining the existing trees for now but for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Taking into account all of the above, it is considered that the proposed development will 
function well and has achieved fantastic permeability throughout the site, which not only 
links the proposed development but also links to the wider area for greater benefit; have 
been designed with the ancient Arden in mind but whilst also providing its own 
character by being sympathetic to the local area.  All existing trees are being retained 
as required by the outline permission.  The site is using its topography by providing the 
SUDs and therefore a dedicated public open space which is interactable and useable 
within the low-lying level of the site which have been approved under FUL/2022/1981. 
 
The street typologies have mirrored the guidance as set down within the SUE SPD with 
pedestrian / cycle routes and sustainable transport options at the forefront of the 
design, the proposal therefore creates a high-quality, beautiful, and sustainable place 
and is in accordance with the NPPF and Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan. 
 
 
AIR QUALITY 
Policy H1 of the Coventry Local Plan states future housing will be designed to create 
new and stable communities.   
 
Policy H3 of the Coventry Local Plan states that new development must provide a high-
quality residential environment which assists in delivering urban regeneration or 
creating sustainable communities and which overall enhances the built environment. A 
suitable residential environment includes safe and appropriate access, adequate 
amenity space and parking provision and be safe from pollution. 
 
Policy EM7 of the Coventry Local Plan states major development proposals will require 
the submission of an air quality assessment, as they may lead to a significant 
deterioration in local air quality resulting in unacceptable effects on human health, local 
amenity or the natural environment.  
 
The Air Quality SPD simplifies the consideration of air quality impacts associated with 
development schemes and focus on incorporation of mitigation at the design stage, 
countering the cumulative impacts of aggregated developments, providing clarity to 
developers and defining ‘sustainability’ in air quality terms. 
 
The Site is located within the Coventry citywide Air Quality Management Area which 
was designated for the potential exceedance of the annual mean nitrogen dioxide 
(NO2) air quality objective.  
 
The outline application, OUT/2019/0484, assessed the impact of the proposed 
development on Air Quality. 
 

Page 32



 
 

OUT/2019/0484 was submitted with an Environmental Statement which included an Air 
Quality chapter.  This chapter analysed the impact of the development (including the 
cumulative impact of the development within the SUE) upon air quality in the area, as 
well as the air quality within the site. 
 
Environmental Protection raised no objections to the outline permission on air quality 
grounds. Instead requested conditions in respect of a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan, low NOx boilers and EV Charging points.  
 
On the current application, Environmental Protection raised no objections subject to the 
conditions imposed on the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, namely: - 

 Condition No.6 – Low NOx emission boilers and EV charging points.  
 Condition No.7 – No.11 – Ground Contamination, Remediation and Verification. 
 Condition No.13 – Construction Management Plan (CMP). 

 
NOISE 
Policy H1 of the Coventry Local Plan states future housing will be designed to create 
new and stable communities.   
 
Policy H3 of the Coventry Local Plan states that new development must provide a high-
quality residential environment which assists in delivering urban regeneration or 
creating sustainable communities and which overall enhances the built environment. A 
suitable residential environment includes safe and appropriate access, adequate 
amenity space and parking provision and be safe from pollution. 
 
The outline permission assessed the impact of housing on the site and imposed a 
condition No.12, which required noise assessments to be submitted with the reserved 
matters applications. 
 
The current application was supported by AMENDED REPORT - Noise Survey, dated 
16th November 2023 - Report Ref:80438-SRL-RP-YA-01-S2-P3. 
 
The noise was measured at the site from 8th to 9th March 2022 to determine the 
existing environmental noise that is likely to affect the proposed dwellings.  Road traffic 
noise was the dominant noise source at all positions. Additional noise sources 
consisted of local wildlife, typical residential noise such as lawnmowers, and the 
occasional overhead aircraft. Low levels of noise from the M6 to the north were audible 
during lulls in local noise. 
 
All of the proposed plots can meet guideline internal noise levels in accordance with BS 
8233 with ‘standard’ thermal double glazing and non-acoustic trickle ventilators. 
 
All gardens will be below 50 dB LAeq, T. This means that all external amenity areas will 
meet the BS 8233 guidelines for external amenity areas, and no further noise mitigation 
is required. 
 
Environmental Protection raise no objections subject to conditions. 
 

Page 33



 
 

CONTAMINATED LAND 
Policy EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan seeks to ensure that redevelopment of 
previously developed land does not have a negative impact on water quality, either 
directly through pollution of surface or ground water or indirectly through the treatment 
of wastewater by whatever means. 
 
The outline application, OUT/2019/0484, assessed the impact of the proposed 
development on contaminated land and secured conditions for an Investigation and 
Risk Assessment to be submitted prior to commencement of any works on the site, 
please see condition No.7, attached to OUT/2019/0484.   
 
Condition No.8 and No.9, attached to OUT/2019/0484, required a detailed remediation 
scheme to be submitted and implement prior to commencement of the remediation 
works and condition No.10 required a verification report to be submitted. 
 
 
ARCHAEOLOGY 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 197 states the LPA should take 
into account the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 
assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and 
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness. 
 
Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 
 
Paragraph 200 of the NPPF states any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within 
its setting), should require clear and convincing justification.  
  
Policy HE2 of the Coventry Local Plan ‘Conservation and Heritage Assets’ which is 
relevant to locally listed buildings and conservation areas, states that in order to help 
sustain the historic character, sense of place, environmental quality and local 
distinctiveness of Coventry, development proposals will be supported where they 
conserve and, where appropriate, enhance those aspects of the historic environment 
which are recognised as being of special historic, archaeological, architectural, artistic, 
landscape or townscape significance. Proposals likely to affect the significance of a 
heritage asset or its setting should demonstrate an understanding of such significance 
using currently available evidence. Development proposals involving heritage assets in 
general and listed buildings in particular, should acknowledge the significance of the 
existing building and the area by means of their siting, massing, form, scale, materials 
and detail. 
 
A programme of archaeological trenching was warranted. An Archaeological Evaluation 
of the development land was undertaken under the outline application.  This included the 

Page 34



 
 

digging of 34 Trenches each measuring 30 metres long. Archaeological remains were 
very sparse and comprised two charcoal rich pits located in the centre of site. A number 
of agricultural features were spread across the area and the majority of features 
investigated were modern with several identified during the geophysics found to be field 
drains. A large modern borrow pit was found in one trench and a furrow was found in 
another containing an abraded fragment of medieval pottery. Post-medieval and modern 
pottery was found in the topsoil across the site and the southwestern field was also found 
to contain a fragment of medieval pottery. The majority of trenches were negative for 
features and therefore no further investigation was required. 
 
This was done prior to determination of the application as any findings could have had 
an impact on the layout of the site and therefore the quantum of development proposed. 
 
On the basis of the submission under the outline permission, the developable area was 
agreed and formed part of Condition No.4. 
 
 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended), commonly known as s106 agreements, are a mechanism which make a 
development proposal acceptable in planning terms, that would not otherwise be 
acceptable. They are focused on site specific mitigation of the impact of development.  
 
The legal tests for when you can use a s106 agreement are set out in regulation 122 
and 123 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 as amended. 
 
The tests are: 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 Directly related to the development; and 
 Fairly and related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
As well as the legal tests, the policy tests are contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF): 
 
Paragraph 55. Local planning authorities should consider whether otherwise 
unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or 
planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible 
to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. 
 
Paragraph 56. Planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and only imposed 
where they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, 
enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects. Agreeing conditions early is 
beneficial to all parties involved in the process and can speed up decision making. 
Conditions that are required to be discharged before development commences should 
be avoided unless there is a clear justification. 
 
Paragraph 57. Planning obligations must only be sought where they meet all of the 
tests mentioned above. 
 

Page 35



 
 

Policy IM1 ‘Developer Contributions for Infrastructure’ of the CLP states that 
development will be expected to provide or contribute towards provision of: a) 
Measures to directly mitigate its impact and make it acceptable in planning terms; and 
b) Physical, social and green infrastructure to support the needs associated with the 
development. 
 
The outline permission, OUT/2019/0484 secured a number of contributions and 
requirements via a S106 agreement dated 5th July 2022.  The current reserved matters 
application is bound by the terms of the S106 agreement. 
 
The contributions are summarised below. 
 
Affordable Housing 

 25% 

Biodiversity 
 £101,287.00 towards offsetting measures 

CCG 
 £266,687.45 towards off site primary care and healthcare facilities 

Education 
 £1,182,000.00 towards primary provision 
 £56,916.00 towards SEN primary provision 
 £1,918,466.00 towards secondary provision 
 £379,000.57 towards post 16 provision. 
 £86,156.00 towards secondary and post 16 SEN provision. 

Highways 
 £3,568,585.79 towards the Keresley Link Road 
 £200,000.00 towards the resurfacing of Thompson Lane 
 £7,500.00 towards the provision of a traffic monitoring camera the site access 

junction 
 £448,372.63 towards the costs of Long Lane to Holyhead Road super cycle 

highway. 
 £860,898.85 towards the costs of Bennetts Road to Barker Butts Lane cycle 

provision. 
 £100,000.00 upgrading footpaths to cycleways. 
 £49,050.00 for the West Midlands Cycle Hire Scheme 
 £23,000.00 towards road markings for an online cycle lane 
 £275,000.00 for the provision of a shared use footway / cycle track at Bennetts 

Road 
 £22,000.00 towards a crossing point 
 £187,720.85 towards the provision of Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) 
 £205,573.00 towards the extension of the 16/16A bus service 
 £6,800 towards travel plan monitoring 
 £14,125.00 towards residential travel plans 
 £15,039.75 towards household surveys 
 £32,155.48 towards a travel plan coordinator 

Page 36



 
 

 £20,318.21 towards traffic surveys 
 £75,000 towards car club 
 £470,394.80 towards mobility credits 
 £366,500.00 towards improvement works at Junction 3 of the M6 
 £111,284.09 towards improvements to Winding House Lane/Wheelwright 

Junction 

NHS 
 £256,000.27 towards provision of additional acute care and accident and 

emergency care services 

Parks 
 £59,000 towards BMX/skate provision and/or green gym/path at Keresley End 

Recreation Ground 

 
Sports Contributions 

 £457,434.00 towards a sports hall/swimming pool 
 £316,000.46 towards grass playing pitches 
 £255,000.00 towards changing room facilities. 

 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS  
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 
149 states:-  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and 
the matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this 
application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
CONCLUSION 
The Council cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply, therefore the tilted 
balance is engaged, and permission must be granted unless any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 
 
The application site is located within the Keresley Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE), 
an allocated housing site within the Coventry Local Plan, specifically H2:1.  The 
principle of development is therefore accepted. 

Page 37



 
 

 
Application OUT/2019/0484 was submitted; heard at the 27th May 2021 Planning 
Committee meeting and subsequently approved the erection of up to 500 residential 
dwellings with all matters reserved with the exception of access and comprising of: The 
demolition of Thompsons Cottage and associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open space, sustainable urban drainage, green 
networks, play space and associated structural and general landscaping; A vehicular 
access point and emergency access point onto Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All associated infrastructure and enabling works. 
 
The redline site area for application OUT/2019/0484 extends to some 20.7ha. 
 
Therefore, the principle of developing the site for housing has been approved and this 
application concentrates solely on the outstanding reserved matters relating to the 
appearance and scale of the proposed house, together with the layout and landscaping 
of the proposed site. 
 
FUL/2022/1981 approved the main access road into the site which was designed as the 
’Avenue’ typology and included the segregated LTN 1/20 compliant cycle and 
pedestrian route.  Accordingly, a 3m cycle track and 2m footway is provided on one 
side with the other being a 2m wide footway, with the appropriate separation margins 
between the carriageway and the cycle track and footways. 
 
The Public Rights of Way (PRoWs) have been realigned and incorporated into the 
development within their own landscape corridors.   
 
Pedestrian and cycle routes are provided in and around the site.  The site provides a safe 
route for people to walk and cycle. 
 
Each residential property is being provided with the policy compliant parking, with all one-
bedroom properties having one dedicated car parking spaces and all two plus bedroomed 
properties having at least two dedicated parking spaces. There are also  visitor spaces 
dotted around the site. 
 
The application has gone through many iterations, and I am firmly of the view that the 
scheme is of a very high standard of design, in terms of the buildings themselves, and 
the spaces between them. 
 
The application is therefore in accordance with the Coventry Local Plan and no material 
considerations indicate that a different decision should be reached, even without 
engaging the tilted balance. 
 

CONDITIONS / REASONS 

1. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans:  

 DRAWING - Location Plan - Drawing No.Emxxx-PD-001 

Page 38



 
 

 AMENDED REPORT - Arboricultural Assessment - Bloor Parcel, 
dated 14th April 2023 - Report Ref.C  

 AMENDED DRAWING - Means of Enclosure - Drawing No. EM038-
SL-004H 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Site Landscaping - Drawing No.EMxxx-LS-
001h 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Site Landscaping - Drawing No.EMxxx-LS-
002h 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Site Landscaping - Drawing No.EMxxx-LS-
003i 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Site Landscaping - Drawing No.EMxxx-LS-
004h 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Site Landscaping - Drawing No.EMxxx-LS-
005h 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Site Landscaping - Drawing No.EMxxx-LS-
006g 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Site Landscaping - Drawing No.EMxxx-LS-
007h 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Site Landscaping - Drawing No.EMxxx-LS-
009g 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Site Landscaping - Drawing No.EMxxx-LS-
010g 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Managed Areas - Excluding Roads - 
Drawing No.EM038-PD-001D 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Materials Layout - Drawing No.Em038-PD-
005K 

 AMENDED REPORT - Noise Survey, dated 16th November 2023 - 
Report Ref:80438-SRL-RP-YA-01-S2-P3 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Sketch Layout - Drawing No. Em038-PD-
004LL (1 of 2) 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Sketch Layout - Drawing No. Em038-PD-
004EE (2 of 2) 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Refuse Tracking - Drawing No.EM038-PD-
001C 

 AMENDED DRAWING - HOUSE TYPES - dated November 2023 - 
Character Area 1 - Benetts Central Green (Blue) 

 AMENDED DRAWING - HOUSE TYPES, dated November 2023 – 
Character Area 2 – The Hedges (beige) 

 AMENDED DRAWING - HOUSE TYPES, dated November 2023 – 
Character Area 3 – Meadow Edge (Green). 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
  

2. 

The existing tree(s) and hedge(s) indicated on the approved plan AMENDED 
DRAWING - Sketch Layout - Drawing No. Em038-PD-004LL (1 of 2) and 
AMENDED DRAWING - Sketch Layout - Drawing No. Em038-PD-004EE (2 
of 2), to be retained shall not be cut down, grubbed out or otherwise removed 
or topped or lopped so that the height of the hedge(s) falls below 2m at any 

Page 39



 
 

point. Any tree(s) and/or hedge(s) removed without consent or dying, or 
being severely damaged or diseased or becomes; in the opinion of the Local 
Planning Authority; seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced within 
the next planting season with hedging, tree(s) and/or shrub(s) of such size 
and species details of which must be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. All hedging, tree(s) and shrub(s) shall be planted in 
accordance with British Standard BS 8545:2014 Trees: from nursery to 
independence in the landscape - Recommendations and BS4428 - Code of 
Practice for General Landscape Operations (excluding hard surfaces). 

Reason 

To protect those landscape features which are of significant amenity value 
to the area and which would provide an enhanced standard of appearance 
to the development in accordance with Policies GE3, GE4 and HE2 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

3. 

No development or other operations (including any demolition, site 
clearance or other preparatory works) shall commence unless and until the 
tree protection measures identified in the approved application 
documentation, namely AMENDED REPORT - Arboricultural Assessment - 
Bloor Parcel, dated 14th April 2023 - Report Ref.C, have been put into 
place in strict accordance with the approved details and thereafter they 
shall remain in place during all construction work. In addition no 
excavations, site works, stock piling, trenches or channels shall be cut or 
pipes or services laid, no fires shall be lit within 10 metres of the nearest 
point of the canopy or root protection area of any protected tree(s); no 
equipment, machinery or structure shall be located within this zone; no 
mixing of cement or use of other contaminating materials or substances 
shall take place within, or close enough to, a root protection area that 
seepage or displacement could cause them to enter a root protection area 
or any other works carried out in such a way as to cause damage or injury 
to the tree(s) by interference with their root structure and that no soil or 
waste shall be deposited on the land in such a position as to be likely to 
cause damage or injury to the tree(s). 

Reason 

To protect those trees which are of significant amenity value to the area and 
which would provide an enhanced standard of appearance to the 
development in accordance with Policy GE3 and GE4 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016. 
  

4. 

Any on-plot landscaping (other than the planting of trees and shrubs) 
including the erection of boundary treatment, and the installation of paving 
and footpaths (which shall be made of porous materials or provision shall be 
made to direct run-off water from the hard surface to a permeable or porous 
area), as  shown on the approved plans namely AMENDED DRAWING - 
Sketch Layout - Drawing No. Em038-PD-004LL (1 of 2) and AMENDED 
DRAWING - Sketch Layout - Drawing No. Em038-PD-004EE (2 of 2), unless 
alternative details have been approved via a discharge of condition 
application, shall be completed in all respects within three months of the first 

Page 40



 
 

use of that dwelling(s) and the tree(s) and shrub(s) shall be planted within 
the first planting season of that first use. Any tree(s) or shrub(s) removed, 
dying, or becoming; in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority; seriously 
damaged, defective or diseased within five years from the substantial 
completion of the scheme shall be replaced within the next planting season 
by tree(s) or shrub(s) of similar size and species to those originally required 
to be planted. All hedging, tree(s) and shrub(s) shall be planted in accordance 
with British Standard BS 8545:2014 Trees: from nursery to independence in 
the landscape - Recommendations and BS4428 - Code of Practice for 
General Landscape Operations.  

Reason 

To ensure a satisfactory standard of appearance of the development in the 
interests of the visual amenities of the area and surface water does not 
enter the highway in accordance with Policy DE1, AC2, EM1, EM4 and 
EM5 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

5. 

No part of the residential accommodation hereby permitted shall be occupied 
unless and until the external amenity space for that dwelling has been laid 
out and provided in full accordance with the details shown on the approved 
plans and thereafter shall remain available for use at all times. 

Reason 

In the interests of the amenities of the future occupants of the residential 
accommodation in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 
2016.  
  

6. 

No part of the residential accommodation hereby permitted shall be occupied 
unless and until the bin storage for that dwelling has been provided and 
thereafter shall remain available for use at all times. 
 
All bins which serve that dwelling must be stored within the approved bin 
storage area and not positioned on the public highway or in the open, unless 
on bin collection days.  

Reason 

In the interests of the amenities of the future occupants of the residential 
accommodation in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 
2016.  
  

7. 
No part of the residential accommodation hereby permitted shall be occupied 
unless and until the cycle parking for that dwelling has been provided and 
thereafter shall remain available for use at all times.  

Reason 

In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies 
DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 
  

8. The dwelling(s) hereby permitted shall be constructed from the approved 
materials contained within AMENDED DRAWING - Materials Layout - 

Page 41



 
 

Drawing No.Em038-PD-005K unless alternative details have been approved 
via a discharge of condition application. These details shall be installed only 
in full accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the 
development and thereafter shall be retained and shall not be removed or 
altered in any way 

Reason 

To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external 
appearance in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

9. 

Prior to the commencement of development, a method statement detailing 
the control of emissions into the air during the demolition/construction phase 
should be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The method statement should accord with the Best Practice 
Guidance - 'The control of dust and emissions from construction and 
demolition' and include:- a) proposed hours of work; b) map with nearest 
receptors and distances for dust and noise; c) noise impact on nearest 
neighbours and control measures as required; d) monitoring methods and 
measurement locations for dust and noise recording details; e) dust 
mitigation measures; f) contact details for responsible persons and site 
personnel training; and g) information provision and liaison with local 
residents. The development shall only proceed in full accordance with the 
approved details. 

Reason 
To protect the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring residential 
occupiers in accordance with Policy EM7 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

10. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or any 
statutory instrument amending, revoking and/or replacing that Order, no 
further development shall take place within the curtilage of any dwellinghouse 
hereby permitted without the prior grant of planning permission by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Reason 

Having regard to the design, layout and general nature of the proposed 
development it is important to ensure that no further development is carried 
out which would detract from the appearance of the area and affect the 
amenity of adjacent properties. Therefore, no additional development is to 
be carried out without the permission of the Local Planning Authority in 
accordance with Policies H3 and DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 
  

11. 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, full 
details of the proposed LEAP shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, which shall caters for children from 4 to 8 
years of age. The LEAP shall be completed in full accordance with the 
approved details before occupation of 50% of the dwelling(s) within that 
phase, are first occupied and thereafter shall be retained and shall not be 
removed or altered in any way. 

Page 42



 
 

Reason 
To ensure that the proposed development provides for outside play in 
accordance with Policy H3 and GE2 of the Coventry Local Plan. 
  

12. 

No part of the residential accommodation hereby permitted shall be occupied 
unless and until the road connecting that dwelling to the adopted highway 
have been constructed to surface course and thereafter shall remain 
available for use at all times. 
 

Reason 
In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport with 
the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies DS3, 
AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 

13. 

The proposed footpath running along the south and south-western boundary 
of the site, which connects the proposed combined footway cycle track ,which 
runs from the end of the Avenue road in between Plot No.129 and No.136, 
to the existing Pubic Right of Way (PRoW) that runs along the north-western 
site boundary and to the PRoW that runs to the south of the site (Thompsons 
Lane) shall be laid out, constructed and opened for use prior to the 
occupation of the 50th dwelling in accordance with the approved details  and 
thereafter shall be retained and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Reason 
In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies 
DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 
 

14. 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted full details 
of the combined footway cycle track shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Reason 
In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies 
DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 

15. 

The footpath connecting Road No.2, outside Plots No.4, No.5 & No.6 to the 
north and Plots No.321, No.322 and 324 to the south shall be laid out, 
constructed and opened to pedestrians prior to the occupation of the 25th 
dwelling in accordance with the details shown on drawing  

Reason 
In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies 
DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 

16. 

The footpath connecting Roads 5 to the existing public footpath along the 
north-western site boundary shall be laid out, constructed and opened to 
pedestrians prior to the occupation of any dwelling on Road 5 in accordance 
with the details shown on drawing EM038-SL-003F – Surface Materials 

Page 43



 
 

  

 

Reason 
In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies 
DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 

17. 

Prior to occupation of the dwelling(s) hereby permitted full details of the 
infrastructure required for the cycle hire docking station shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This shall include 
details of the base, the necessary power supply necessary for eBike charging 
and communications.  The infrastructure for the cycle hire docking station 
shall be installed in full accordance with the approved details prior to the 
occupation of the 25th dwelling(s) hereby permitted and thereafter shall be 
retained and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Reason 
In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies 
DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 

Page 44



Keresley, Coventry

Revision.

- - - -

N

0m 10m 20m 30m 40m 50m

THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH SEPARATE GROUP / SITE SPECIFIC

CONSTRUCTION NOTES AND MATERIALS SPECIFICATION.

THIS DRAWING AND THE BUILDING WORKS DEPICTED ARE THE COPYRIGHT OF J.S.BLOOR

(SERVICES) LIMITED AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED OR AMENDED EXCEPT BY WRITTEN

PERMISSION. NO LIABILITY WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR AMENDMENTS MADE BY OTHER

PERSONS.

DO NOT SCALE THIS DRAWING, USE FIGURED DIMENSIONS ONLY, IF IN DOUBT ASK.

J S BLOOR (SERVICES) LIMITED

ASHBY ROAD, MEASHAM, SWADLINCOTE,

DERBYSHIRE DE12 7JP

TELEPHONE 01530 270100 FACSIMILE 01530 272006

Notes.

DATE:

SCALE:

DRAWN:

CHECKED:

Drawing No.

1:2000 @ A1

25.04.22

Location Plan

BENNETTS ROAD NORTH

KERESLEY

COVENTRY

EMxxx-PD-001

KW

P
age 45

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
129.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
BENNETT'S ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
MINERS LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
24d

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
57a

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
135.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
ROAD NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
CW

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
PATH

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
138.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
157.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
132.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
Barn

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
1.22m RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
L Twrs

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
CH

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
Ppg Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
Littlehurst

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
11 to 14

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
Police House

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
Met Dist Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
Recreation

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
1.22m RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
1.22m RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
124.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
THE CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
Co Const Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
Liby

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
127.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
The Squirrels

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
(covered)

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
BENNETTS ROAD NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
Burrow Hill

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
126.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
GROVE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
125.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
24b

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
24a

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
135.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
YARNMAKERS

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
BURROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
Bunsons Wood

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
Ground

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
Co Const Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
1.22m

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
Crabtree

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
Reservoir

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
CH

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
124.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
24c

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
Hollies

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
Primary School

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
131.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
Clinic

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
THE

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
CW

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
Ivy Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
Hall Yard Wood

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
Burrow Hill Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
Rugby Football

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
1.22m RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
L Twrs

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
Ppg Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
Nursery

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
HOWAT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
74 to 79

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
Keresley Newland

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
THOMPSONS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
Surgery

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
133.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
CW

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
139.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
Lower Rock Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
155.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
146.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
123.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
Cricket Ground

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
124.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
BENNETT'S

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
127.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
CW

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
HERDERS WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
134.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
HILL LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
Keresley

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
Keresley

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
BS

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
Boro Const Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
(covered)

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
Reservoir

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
Sewage

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
GROVE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
134.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
Robert Atchison Way

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
Boro Const Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
151.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
HILL LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
BURROW

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
Peace

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
CCD

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
CH



Page 46



 
 

Planning Committee Report 
 Planning Ref:  RMM/2022/2615 
Site:  Land at Thompsons Farm 
Ward: Bablake. 
Proposal: Submission of Reserved Matters (appearance, 

landscaping, layout and scale) for the erection of 171no. 
dwellings and associated infrastructure pursuant to 
planning permission OUT/2019/0484 granted on 
05/07/2022 for erection of up to 500 residential dwellings 
with all matters reserved with the exception of access 
and comprising of: The demolition of Thompsons Cottage 
and associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open space, sustainable 
urban drainage, green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general landscaping; A 
vehicular access point and emergency access point onto 
Bennetts Road North; Network of pedestrian and cycle 
routes; and All associated infrastructure and enabling 
works. 

Case Officer: Emma Spandley 
 
SUMMARY 
The application relates to a parcel of land that is contained within the housing allocation 
H2:1, called Keresley SUE.  The allocation is for a minimum of 3,100 dwellings. 
 
Application OUT/2019/0484 was submitted; heard at the 27th May 2021 Planning 
Committee meeting and subsequently approved the erection of up to 500 residential 
dwellings with all matters reserved with the exception of access. 
 
The redline site area for application OUT/2019/0484 extends to some 20.7ha.  The 
current application seeks permission for the outstanding details, called reserved 
matters, relating to the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the proposed 
houses.  The application proposes 171no. dwellings out of the 500no dwellings 
approved pursuant to planning permission OUT/2019/0484 granted on 5th July 2022. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
The site was previously designated Green Belt land; however, it was removed from the 
Green Belt following independent examination by an Inspector at Local Plan 
Examination in Public and allocated for Housing as a Sustainable Urban Extension 
(SUE).  The specific housing requirements are allocated under H2:1. 
 
Application OUT/2019/0484 was submitted; heard at the 27th May 2021 Planning 
Committee meeting and subsequently approved the erection of up to 500 residential 
dwellings with all matters reserved with the exception of access and comprising of: The 
demolition of Thompsons Cottage and associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open space, sustainable urban drainage, green 
networks, play space and associated structural and general landscaping; A vehicular 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



 
 

access point and emergency access point onto Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All associated infrastructure and enabling works. 
 
The primary vehicular access to the site as approved under the outline is on the west 
side of Bennetts Road North with a secondary emergency access further south. The 
primary access is located approximately 20m northwest of the junction with Grove Lane 
which is located on the opposite side (west side) of Bennetts Road North. The emergency 
access is located approximately 30m south of the junction with Grove Lane.   The primary 
access will link to a central avenue which forms part of this current application. 
 
Application FUL/2022/1981, recently heard at 5th October 2023 Planning Committee, 
resolved to grant the details relating to the initial phase of infrastructure works, which 
comprised the primary access into the site along with the proposed surface water 
attenuation areas (SuDs). This decision notice was issued on 6th October 2023. 
 
This current application seeks permission for the outstanding details, called reserved 
matters, relating to the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the proposed 
houses.  The application proposes 171no. dwellings out of the 500no dwellings 
approved pursuant to planning permission OUT/2019/0484 granted on 5th July 2022. 
 
An additional application has been submitted for the reserved matters relating to the 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of 328no houses, application 
RMM/2022/1982 on the other parcel of land. 
 
Together these two reserved matters applications, the current application 
RMM/2022/2615 and RMM/2022/1982, provide for 499no dwellings out of the 500no 
dwellings as approved under the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484 granted on 5th 
July 2022. 
 
KEY FACTS 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

Over five objections against the officer recommendation 

Current use of site: Agricultural 
Proposed use of site: Residential 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning committee are recommended to grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions listed in the report and 
 
Delegate authority to the Strategic Lead Planning, in consultation with the chair of 
Planning Committee, to agree any amendments to these conditions, which are 
considered necessary. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 

 The proposal is consistent with an allocation in the development plan and is 
acceptable in principle.  

 The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety, residential amenity, 
air quality, ancient woodland or ecology. 

Page 48



 
 

 The proposal accords with Policies DS1, DS3, DS4, H1, H2, H3, H4: H6, H9, 
GE1, GE3, GE4, DE1, HE2, JE7, HW1, AC1, AC2, AC3, AC4, AC5, EM1, EM2, 
EM3, EM4, EM5,  EM6, EM7 and IM1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, together 
with the aims of the NPPF. 

 
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
As mentioned above, the current application, RMM/2022/2615, will link into another 
reserved matters applications, RMM/2022/1982, which seek permission for the 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the 328no. houses under outline 
permission, OUT/2019/0484 for the remaining portion of the site. 
 
The current application seeks permission for the outstanding details relating to the 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the proposed housing development for 
171no. properties. 
 
FUL/2022/1981 has already approved the main spine road into and around the site and 
the SuDs which are required to support the housing development. 
 
This spine road will facilitate access to the development parcels.  Currently the entire 
outline permission has been split into two separate development parcels. 
 
This application relates to the site running from south and east of the approved spine 
road, with the other application, RMM/2022/2615, providing houses on the north and 
western side of the spine road. 
 
The proposals in overview will provide: 

 171no out of 500no dwellings approved on a strategic housing allocation. 
 The application has been designed in accordance with the SUE SPD. 
 The application is providing for a wide range of mix and styles of properties. 

The following table sets out the proposed bedroom numbers. 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom 5 Bedroom Total 
4no. 
dwellings 

45no. 
dwellings 

63no. 
dwellings 

57no 
dwelling 

2no dwelling 171 

 
Split as follows between private and affordable housing. 

 
Private Housing 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom 5 Bedroom Total 
0 22no. 

dwellings 
50no. 
dwellings 

55no 
dwelling 

2no 
dwelling 

129 

 
Affordable Housing 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom Total 
4no. dwellings 23no. 

dwellings 
13no. dwellings 2no dwelling 42 

 
The application is proposing 25% affordable housing. 
 

Page 49



 
 

Frontages of new houses have been planned so natural surveillance is provided to all 
public open space, pedestrian and cycle networks. 
 
A number of amendments have occurred to the layout in line with officers’ comments 
during the process of the application.  These include: - 

 The principal access road redesigned to incorporate the ’Avenue’ typology and 
the segregated LTN 1/20 compliant cycle and pedestrian route. 

 Changes in direction of the road network to encourage lower vehicular speeds. 
 Private drives adjusted. 
 Parking arrangement upgraded to include all car parking spaces outside the 

house they serve, runs of parking broken up with appropriate soft landscaping 
including rain gardens and tree pits. 

 The inclusion of well-connected sustainable movement network of routes within 
the site which link the site to the wider area. 

 The inclusion of tree lined roadways, and 
 The mix of affordable housing adjusted to now provide the policy compliant 

social rent properties including the larger 4-bedroom properties. 

 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
The entire application site, which falls under the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, sits 
on the administrative boundary with North Warwickshire is located on the western side of 
Bennetts Road North and to the North of Thompsons Road. The site is the northern most 
site within the Keresley SUE.  
 
The existing site is currently agricultural arable land and gently undulates with the lowest 
point located towards the centre of the eastern boundary. The site is divided into small 
fields separated by small hedgerows and related hedgerow trees. On the northern 
boundary is an existing hedgerow with trees which will be retained. Similarly, the existing 
hedgerow to the western boundary will be retained. Towards the centre of the site is an 
existing pond which is being retained.  
 
The reserved matters application has been split into two parcels.  Parcel 1 relates to the 
current application and is located to the south of the approved spine road 
(FUL/2022/1981; Parcel 2 relates to application RMM/2022/1982 and is located to the 
north and west of the approved spine road. 
 
The current application seeks permission for the details relating to appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale pursuant to OUT/2019/0484 for the erection of 171no. 
dwellings on a parcel of the land approved under OUT/2019/0484. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



 
 

PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Application Number Description of Development Decision and 

Date 
OUT/2014/2282 Outline application for the erection of 

up to 800 dwellings, with associated 
Local Centre comprising Convenience 
Store (Class A1) Retail/Commercial 
Units (Class A1, A2, A3, A5 and/or D1); 
a Primary School; Public Open Space 
(including equipped play area); 
allotments; nature conservation area; 
and landscaping; with all matters 
reserved except for means of vehicular 
access to the site from Tamworth Road 
and Bennetts Road South. 

Approved 
12/02/2018 

RMM/2019/1030 Submission of reserved matters 
(layout, internal access arrangements, 
scale, appearance and landscape 
details) for Phase 1 comprising of 322 
dwellings and details of green 
infrastructure strategy for all phases 
(excluding third party land) and a 
temporary construction access 
pursuant to OUT/2014/2282 for up to 
800 dwellings, local centre, primary 
school, public open space (all matters 
reserved except vehicular access from 
Tamworth Road and Bennetts Road 
South). The outline application was an 
EIA application and an Environmental 
Statement was submitted with it. 

Approved 
20/11/2019 

S73/2020/0285 Variation of condition 8 (to allow one 
retail unit within the local centre to have 
floorspace up to 500 sq m) imposed 
upon outline permission 
OUT/2014/2282 for the erection of up 
to 800 dwellings, with associated Local 
Centre comprising Convenience Store 
(Class A1) Retail/Commercial Units 
(Class A1, A2, A3, A5 and/or D1); a 
Primary School; Public Open Space 
(including equipped play area); 
allotments; nature conservation area; 
and landscaping; The outline 
application was accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement 

Approved 
22/04/2020 

RM/2020/2399 Submission of reserved matters 
(layout, internal access arrangements, 

Approved 
29/11/2021 

Page 51



 
 

scale, appearance and landscaping) 
for Phases 2A and 2B comprising 394 
dwellings, pursuant to outline 
permission OUT/2014/2282. The 
outline application was accompanied 
by an Environmental Statement. 

RMM/2021/2514 Submission of reserved Matters in 
accordance with condition 1 for layout, 
internal access arrangements, scale, 
appearance and landscape details for 
local centre, comprising of 1,505sqm 
across seven units pursuant to 
planning permission S73/2020/0285 
granted on 22nd April 2020  for 
Variation of condition 8 (to allow one 
retail unit within the local centre to have 
floorspace up to 500 sq m) imposed 
upon outline permission 
OUT/2014/2282 for the erection of up 
to 800 dwellings, with associated Local 
Centre comprising Convenience Store 
(Class A1) Retail/Commercial Units 
(Class A1, A2, A3, A5 and/or D1); a 
Primary School; Public Open Space 
(including equipped play area); 
allotments; nature conservation area; 
and landscaping; The outline 
application was accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement. 

Approved 
26/10/2023 

S73M/2021/2515 Variation of condition No. 56 (Hours of 
Delivery)  and removal of condition No. 
31 (Requirement for Green Roofs) 
imposed on planning permission 
S73/2020/0285 -Variation of condition 
8 (to allow one retail unit within the 
local centre to have floorspace up to 
500 sq m) imposed upon outline 
permission OUT/2014/2282 for the 
erection of up to 800 dwellings, with 
associated Local Centre comprising 
Convenience Store (Class A1) 
Retail/Commercial Units (Class A1, 
A2, A3, A5 and/or D1); a Primary 
School; Public Open Space (including 
equipped play area); allotments; 
nature conservation area; and 
landscaping; The outline application 
was accompanied by an 

Approved 
24/10/2023 

Page 52



 
 

Environmental Statement, granted on 
22nd April 2020 

   
OUT/2019/0022 Outline application for the demolition of 

all existing buildings and the erection 
of up to 550 dwellings and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Tamworth Road and Fivefield Road, 
pedestrian/cycle and emergency 
accesses, diversion of public rights of 
way, highway improvements to 
Fivefield Road, parking, landscaping, 
drainage features, open space and 
associated  infrastructure, with all 
matters to be reserved except access 
points into the site (in part). 

Approved 
07/02/2022 

RMM/2022/0633 Submission of Reserved Matters for 
280 dwellings off Fivefield Road, for all 
matters outstanding pursuant to 
permission OUT/2019/0022 granted 
on 07/02/2022 for the demolition of all 
existing buildings and the erection of 
up to 550 dwellings, and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Tamworth Road and Fivefield Road, 
pedestrian/cycle and emergency 
accesses, highway improvements to 
Fivefield Road, parking, landscaping, 
drainage features, open space and 
associated infrastructure, with all 
matters to be reserved except access 
points into the site 

Pending 

RMM/2022/0636 Submission of Reserved Matters for 35 
dwellings off Keresley Link Road, for 
all matters outstanding pursuant to 
permission OUT/2019/0022 granted 
on 7th February 2022 for the 
demolition of all existing buildings and 
the erection of up to 550 dwellings, and 
creation of associated vehicular 
accesses to Tamworth Road and 
Fivefield Road, pedestrian/cycle and 
emergency accesses, highway 
improvements to Fivefield Road, 
parking, landscaping, drainage 
features, open space and associated 
infrastructure, with all matters to be 
reserved except access points into the 
site. 

Approved 
27.10.2023 

Page 53



 
 

RMM/2022/0678 Submission of Reserved Matters for 
201 dwellings off Tamworth Road, for 
all matters outstanding pursuant to 
permission OUT/2019/0022 granted 
on 7th February 2022 for the 
demolition of all existing buildings and 
the erection of up to 550 dwellings, and 
creation of associated vehicular 
accesses to Tamworth Road and 
Fivefield Road, pedestrian/cycle and 
emergency accesses, highway 
improvements to Fivefield Road, 
parking, landscaping, drainage 
features, open space and associated 
infrastructure, with all matters to be 
reserved except access points into the 
site 

Pending 

RMM/2022/0679 Submission of Reserved Matters for 19 
dwellings off Tamworth Road, for all 
matters outstanding pursuant to 
permission OUT/2019/0022 granted 
on 7th February 2022 for the 
demolition of all existing buildings and 
the erection of up to 550 dwellings, and 
creation of associated vehicular 
accesses to Tamworth Road and 
Fivefield Road, pedestrian/cycle and 
emergency accesses, highway 
improvements to Fivefield Road, 
parking, landscaping, drainage 
features, open space and associated 
infrastructure, with all matters to be 
reserved except access points into the 
site 

Pending 

RMM/2022/0680 Submission of Reserved Matters for 
the Ancient Woodland Buffer off 
Tamworth Road, for all matters 
outstanding pursuant to permission 
OUT/2019/0022 granted on 7th 
February 2022 for the demolition of all 
existing buildings and the erection of 
up to 550 dwellings, and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Tamworth Road and Fivefield Road, 
pedestrian/cycle and emergency 
accesses, highway improvements to 
Fivefield Road, parking, landscaping, 
drainage features, open space and 
associated infrastructure, with all 

Approved 
03/08/2023 

Page 54



 
 

matters to be reserved except access 
points into the site. 

   
OUT/2019/0484 Outline permission for the erection of 

up to 500 residential dwellings with all 
matters reserved with the exception of 
access and comprising of: The 
demolition of Thompsons Cottage and 
associated buildings; Provision of 
green infrastructure including strategic 
open space, sustainable urban 
drainage, green networks, play space 
and associated structural and general 
landscaping; A vehicular access point 
and emergency access point onto 
Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All 
associated infrastructure and enabling 
works 

Approved 
05/07/2022 

FUL/2022/1981 Installation and formation of highway 
and drainage infrastructure works 
pursuant to OUT/2019/0484 granted 
on 05/07/2022 for erection of up to 500 
residential dwellings with all matters 
reserved with the exception of access 
and comprising of: The demolition of 
Thompsons Cottage and associated 
buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open 
space, sustainable urban drainage, 
green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general 
landscaping; A vehicular access point 
and emergency access point onto 
Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All 
associated infrastructure and enabling 
works. 

Approved 
06/10/2023 

RMM/2022/1982 Submission of reserved matters 
(appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale) for the erection of 328no. 
dwellings and associated infrastructure 
pursuant to planning permission 
OUT/2019/0484 granted on 
05/07/2022 for erection of up to 500 
residential dwellings with all matters 
reserved with the exception of access 
and comprising of: The demolition of 
Thompsons Cottage and associated 

Pending 

Page 55



 
 

buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open 
space, sustainable urban drainage, 
green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general 
landscaping; A vehicular access point 
and emergency access point onto 
Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All 
associated infrastructure and enabling 
works. 

   
OUT/2019/2277 Proposed residential development (up 

to 40 dwellings) with associated 
landscaping/open space, drainage and 
highway infrastructure (outline 
application - all matters reserved 
except access into the site) 

Approved 
06/03/2020 

RMM/2021/0314 Submission of reserved matters under 
condition 1 for details of appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale for 40 
dwellings together with associated 
landscaping/open space, drainage and 
highway infrastructure and temporary 
construction access from land to the 
northwest pursuant to planning 
permission OUT/2019/2277 granted 
on 6th March 2020 for outline 
permission with access. 
 

Approved 
13/07/2021 

   
FUL/2020/2615 Demolition of existing structures to 

facilitate residential development with 
associated access, parking, 
landscaping and drainage. 

Approved 
25/03/2021 

   
FUL/2020/0748 Erection of 388no. dwellings (C3), 

public open space, landscaping, 
drainage attenuation areas, access 
from Bennetts Road and Penny Park 
Lane, access roads, land safeguarded 
for a new Link Road, and other 
associated works. This application is 
accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement. 

Resolved to 
Approve 
Planning 
Committee 
02/11/23. 
 

   
FUL/2021/3173 Erection of two new dwellings with 

upgraded access and parking (Use 
Class C3) 

Approved 
02/02/2022 

Page 56



 
 

   
OUT/2022/0712 Outline application for the demolition of 

all existing buildings (save for Poddy 
Cottage) and the erection of up to 290 
dwellings and creation of associated 
vehicular accesses to Bennetts Road 
and Fivefield Road, pedestrian/cycle 
accesses, diversion of public rights of 
way, highway improvements, parking, 
landscaping, drainage features, open 
space, and associated infrastructure, 
with all matters to be reserved except 
vehicular access points into the site. 

Approved 
Planning 
Committee 23rd 
February 2023 
 
Decision Issued 
23/06/2023 

OUT/2022/0713 Outline application for the demolition of 
all existing buildings (save for Manor 
Farm Cottage) and the erection of up 
to 260 dwellings and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Bennetts Road, pedestrian/cycle 
accesses, highway improvements, 
parking, landscaping, drainage 
features, open space, and associated 
infrastructure, with all matters to be 
reserved except new vehicular access 
points into the site from Bennetts 
Road. 

Approved 
Planning 
Committee 23rd 
February 2023 
 
Decision Issued 
02/06/2023 

Hall Hill Cottages   
OUT/2022/3246 Outline planning permission with all 

matters reserved except for access, 
for the demolition of existing dwelling 
and associated agricultural units, and 
the erection of up to 40 residential 
dwellings (Use Class C3), with parking 
and associated works. 

Withdrawn 

PL/2023/00001155/OUTM Outline planning permission with all 
matters reserved except for access, 
for the demolition of existing dwelling 
and associated agricultural units, and 
the erection of up to 40 residential 
dwellings (Use Class C3), with parking 
and associated works (Resubmission 
OUT/2022/3246). 

Pending 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



 
 

The most relevant applications are: 
OUT/2019/0484 Outline permission for the erection of up to 500 

residential dwellings with all matters reserved 
with the exception of access and comprising of: 
The demolition of Thompsons Cottage and 
associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open space, 
sustainable urban drainage, green networks, 
play space and associated structural and 
general landscaping; A vehicular access point 
and emergency access point onto Bennetts 
Road North; Network of pedestrian and cycle 
routes; and All associated infrastructure and 
enabling works 

Approved 
05/07/2022 

FUL/2022/1981 Installation and formation of highway and 
drainage infrastructure works pursuant to 
OUT/2019/0484 granted on 05/07/2022 for 
erection of up to 500 residential dwellings with 
all matters reserved with the exception of 
access and comprising of: The demolition of 
Thompsons Cottage and associated buildings; 
Provision of green infrastructure including 
strategic open space, sustainable urban 
drainage, green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general landscaping; 
A vehicular access point and emergency 
access point onto Bennetts Road North; 
Network of pedestrian and cycle routes; and All 
associated infrastructure and enabling works. 

Approved 
06/10/2023 

RMM/2022/1982 Submission of Reserved Matters (appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale) for the erection 
of 328no. dwellings and associated 
infrastructure pursuant to planning permission 
OUT/2019/0484 granted on 05/07/2022 for 
erection of up to 500 residential dwellings with 
all matters reserved with the exception of 
access and comprising of: The demolition of 
Thompsons Cottage and associated buildings; 
Provision of green infrastructure including 
strategic open space, sustainable urban 
drainage, green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general landscaping; 
A vehicular access point and emergency 
access point onto Bennetts Road North; 
Network of pedestrian and cycle routes; and All 
associated infrastructure and enabling works. 

Pending 

 

Page 58



 
 

POLICY 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), updated July 2021. The NPPF sets out 
the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be 
applied. It sets out the Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the 
extent that is relevant, proportionate and necessary to do so.  The NPPF increases the 
focus on achieving high quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the 
planning and development process should achieve”. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) adds further context to the NPPF and 
it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policy relating to 
this application is: 
Policy DS1:  Overall Development Needs 
Policy DS3:  Sustainable Development Policy 
Policy DS4:  (Part A) – General Masterplan Principles 
Policy DS4: (Part C) - Keresley SUE Specific Masterplan Principles 
Policy H1:  Housing Land Requirements 
Policy H2:  Housing Allocations 
Policy H4:  Securing a Mix of Housing 
Policy H6:  Affordable Housing 
Policy H9:  Residential Density 
Policy GE1  Green Infrastructure 
Policy GE3:  Biodiversity, Geological, Landscape and Archaeological Conservation 
Policy GE4:  Tree Protection 
Policy DE1  Ensuring High Quality Design 
Policy HE2:  Conservation and Heritage Assets 
Policy AC1:  Accessible Transport Network 
Policy AC2:  Road Network 
Policy AC3:  Demand Management 
Policy AC4:  Walking and Cycling 
Policy AC5: Bus and Rapid Transit 
Policy EM1:  Planning for Climate Change Adaptation 
Policy EM2:  Building Standards 
Policy EM4  Flood Risk Management 
Policy EM5  Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
Policy EM7  Air Quality 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
SPD Affordable Housing 
SPD Air Quality 
SPD Coventry Connected 
SPD Sustainable Urban Extension Design Guidance 
SPD Design guidance for new residential development 
SPD Trees and Development Guidelines for Coventry 
 

Page 59



 
 

CONSULTATION 
No objections 

 Archaeology 

No objections subject to conditions/contributions have been received from: 
 Drainage 
 Economic Development 
 Environmental Protection 
 Highways 
 Housing Policy 
 Parks 
 Urban Design 
 West Midlands Fire Service 
 West Midlands Police 

Immediate neighbours and local councillors were originally notified on 3rd October 2022 
a site notice was posted on 13th October 2022. A press notice was published in the 
Coventry Telegraph on 13th October 2022. 
 
37no. letters of objection were received, raising the following material planning 
consideration. 

 Impact on drainage and flooding 
 Loss of hedgerows 

However, a number of non-material planning considerations were raised: - 
 Principle of the development 
 Loss of Green Belt  
 Not enough infrastructure 
 Loss of wildlife 
 Traffic and congestion  
 Air Quality 

A further round of consultation took place on amended drawings on 12th June 2023 
 
15no. letters of objection were received, raising the following material planning 
considerations: 

 Impact on noise and disturbance to surrounding existing residential properties. 
 Impact on existing houses through overlooking and loss of privacy. 
 Lack of single storey properties 

The objections also raised a repeat of all the non-material planning considerations 
mentioned above. 
 
APPRAISAL 

 Principle of Development 
 Parameters Conditions 
 Housing Mix 
 Affordable Housing 
 Open Space and Parks 

Page 60



 
 

o Open Space – Development Provision 
o Local Equipment Area for Play (LEAP) 

 Highways, Access and Parking 
o Accesses 
o Pedestrian and Cycle Access 
o Sustainable Transport Routes 
o Bus Provision 
o Parking 
o Visitor Parking 

 Layout 
o Keresley Link Road (KLR) 
o Internal Roads 
o Lanes 
o Courtyards 
o Edge Roads 
o Proposal 

 Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees 
o Ecology and Biodiversity 
o Trees 

 Drainage 
 Design, Scale, Massing and Layout 
 Air Quality 
 Noise 
 Contaminated Land 
 Archaeology 
 Developer Contributions 
 Equality Matters 

 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
The principle of the redevelopment of the site for residential purposes was first 
established under Policy H2 of the Coventry Local Plan which allocated this site and the 
surrounding area for housing as a Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE). The specific 
housing requirements are allocated under Policy H2:1. 
 
The principle of developing the site for residential uses has been established under the 
outline permission OUT/2019/0484.   
 
OUT/2019/0484, granted on 5th July 2022, the erection of up to 500 residential 
dwellings with all matters reserved with the exception of access and comprising of: The 
demolition of Thompsons Cottage and associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open space, sustainable urban drainage, green 
networks, play space and associated structural and general landscaping; A vehicular 
access point and emergency access point onto Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All associated infrastructure and enabling works. 
 
All the comments are noted with regards to the loss of the Green Belt land, flawed census 
figures and the need for the development and the amount of woodland buffer, however 
as these matters have been determined under the outline permission, which approved 

Page 61



 
 

the redevelopment of the area for housing and the amount of woodland buffer required, 
these matters cannot be reassessed and are not material in the consideration of the 
current application which seeks approval for the appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale of the proposed houses only. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 11, states that “Plans and decisions 
should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For Decision Making, 
this means: - 

 approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or 

 where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect 
areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
this Framework taken as a whole.” Footnote 8 to paragraph 11 confirms that this 
includes situations where the local authority cannot demonstrate a five-year 
supply of deliverable housing sites. 

 
The Coventry Local Plan was formally adopted on 6th December 2017. Since it was 
adopted, the Government introduced the Standard Method, a standardised way of 
calculating minimum housing need. As the Local Plan is now more than five years old the 
Standard Method is now the determining factor when considering local housing need. 
When using the Standard Method, the Council is not able to demonstrate a five-year 
housing land supply. As such, the tilted balance is engaged and therefore planning 
permission should be granted, unless “any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits” when assessed against the policies 
of the NPPF taken as a whole. 
 
This current application relates to the erection of 171no dwellings. 
 
The outline permission approved a number of parameters plans, these drawings 
approved the main vehicular access into the site together with the indicative main 
avenue road and the locations of the proposed SuDs and the number of trees and 
hedgerows to be removed.  Application FUL/2022/1981 approved the details of the 
main infrastructure required to support the housing allocation. 
 
Therefore, the principal of developing the site for up to 500no. dwellings and the 
associated infrastructure is acceptable in principal and in accordance with the outline 
permission thus far. 
 
PARAMETER CONDITIONS 
Condition No.4 attached to the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, required the reserved 
matters to come forward in accordance with the following approved plans: -  

 Access and Movement Parameters Plan P16- 0926_10-01D; 
 Land Use Parameter Plan P16 -0926_10-03D; 
 Building Heights Parameters Plan P16 -0926_10-02B,  

Page 62



 
 

 Site Location Plan P16- 0926_05E; 
 General Arrangement Site Access Drawing 02427-A-004-P0 
 shall have full regard to the Sustainable Urban Extension Design Guidance SPD 

and include the following specific requirements:  
(i) provision of a children’s equipped play area;  
(ii) retention of trees, tree groups and hedgerows indicated for retention in the 

submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment Sep 2019;  
(iii) Inclusion of car club spaces for the SUE wide car club; 
(iv) Provision of a 'super bus stop' within the site;  
(v) Provision of cycle hire storage facility. 

 
The application was support by a number of drawings and reports.   
 
AMENDED DRAWING - Planning Layout - Whole Site - Drawing No.KETF-PL-002 Rev 
F accords with the approved location plan – Drawing No. P16- 0926_05E and the 
Access and Movement Parameter Plan – Drawing No. P16- 0926_10-01D approved 
under the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484. 
 
Whether the application is in accordance with the Access and Movement Parameters 
Plan will be discussed under the Highways section.  The retention of trees, tree groups 
and hedgerows indicated for retention in the submitted Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment Sep 2019 will be discussed under the Tree section. 
 
The following conditions are also attached to the outline permission which requires the 
submission of further details to be submitted with the reserved matters applications.   
 
Whether the application is in accordance with the Access and Movement Parameters 
Plan will be discussed under the Highways section.  The retention of trees, tree groups 
and hedgerows indicated for retention in the submitted Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment Sep 2019 will be discussed under the Tree section. 
 
The remining part of Condition No.4 attached to OUT/2019/0022 namely: 

 shall have full regard to the Sustainable Urban Extension Design Guidance SPD 
and include the following specific requirements:  

 provision of a children’s equipped play area;  
 retention of trees, tree groups and hedgerows indicated for retention in the 

submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment Sep 2019;  
 Inclusion of car club spaces for the SUE wide car club; 
 Provision of a 'super bus stop' within the site;  
 Provision of cycle hire storage facility. 

 
Shall be discussed in more detail under the following headings: 

 shall have full regard to the Sustainable Urban Extension Design Guidance SPD 
and include the following specific requirements – Design and Visual. 

 provision of a children’s equipped play area - - Parks and Open space 

Page 63



 
 

 retention of trees, tree groups and hedgerows indicated for retention in the 
submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment Sep 2019 - Ecology, Biodiversity 
and Trees 

 Inclusion of car club spaces for the SUE wide car club - Highways, Access and 
Parking. 

 Provision of a 'super bus stop' within the site – Highways, Access and Parking. 
 Provision of cycle hire storage facility - – Highways, Access and Parking. 

 
The following conditions are also attached to the outline permission which requires the 
submission of further details to be submitted with the reserved matters applications.   
 
Condition No.12 - Noise assessments shall be submitted with reserved matters 
applications for each phase of development. The assessments will demonstrate by 
calculation that internal noise levels for the proposed residential property meet the 'Good' 
criteria set out in British Standard 8233 'Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for 
Buildings' together with any mitigation measures that are required to achieve this. The 
report shall also demonstrate that outdoor garden and leisure areas associated with this 
development meet the 55dB limit as required by the World Health Organisation (WHO). 
Prior to the first occupation of the buildings any necessary mitigation measures shall have 
been implemented in full accordance with the recommendations of the noise assessment 
and thereafter shall not be removed or altered in any way. 
 
This will be discussed under the Noise section. 
 
Condition No.17 - The following shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
together with reserved matters applications for each phase of development: 

a. Arboricultural Impact Assessment (5.4) to assess the direct and indirect 
implications of trees upon the proposal and visa-versa, including locations for 
under-ground/ over-ground services, level changes within RPA's etc.; 

b. Arboricultural Method Statement (6.1); and 
c. a Dimensioned Tree Protection Plan (to include protection measures during and 

after construction and any construction exclusion zones) (in accordance with 5.5/ 
Table B.1), site monitoring (6.3) of British Standard BS5837:2012 - Trees in 
relation to design demolition and construction - Recommendations, which shall 
also include any proposal for pruning or other preventative works.  

 
This will be discussed under the Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees section. 
 
Condition No.21 - Notwithstanding the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 
Strategy, the following shall be submitted to the local planning authority together with 
each reserved matters application: 

i) A scheme for the provision of surface water drainage, incorporating SuDS 
attenuation techniques. There must be consideration of features such as 
green roofs, rain gardens and swales, for the management of surface water 
peak and total flows, biodiversity and water filtering, in accordance with 
Coventry City Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Document for 
'Delivering a More Sustainable City'. 

Page 64



 
 

ii) A detailed strategy for the long-term maintenance of the SuDS and other 
surface water drainage systems on site. 

iii) Development discharge rates to be managed to Qbar greenfield rates 
minus 20%. The discharge rates for brownfield sites shall be considered as 
greenfield in accordance with the SFRA. 

iv) Evidence the 1 in 100 year plus 40% climate change events will be held 
within the site boundaries. 

v) Provisions must be made for the drainage of the site to ensure there are no 
temporary increases in flood risk, on or off site, during the construction 
phase. 

vi) Provisions must be made for the drainage of the site to ensure there is no 
discharge of surface water to the Public Highway. 

vii) All proposed outfalls must be confirmed and agreed with the Lead Local 
Flood Authority prior to the commencement of work on site. 

viii) Evidence that receiving water bodies or sewers are capable of accepting 
the attenuated flows specified by the Lead Local Flood Authority and that this 
will not exacerbate the flood risk on or off site. This will include capacity 
calculations and outcomes, not just the correspondence from Severn Trent 
Water Ltd in isolation, accepting the point discharges. Evidence of existing 
sub catchments within the site are needed to support the connectivity survey 
and confirm the acceptability of proposed point discharges to the 
watercourses and infrastructure sewers. This must be submitted to, and 
agreed by, the Local Planning Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority 

ix) Single discharge points will be discouraged on larger sites, as discharge 
points are to be located to best mimic the natural discharge condition. 

x) A minimum 5m way leave must be provided from the top bank of any 
ordinary watercourse and open water bodies. 

xi) The development must be considered for the implementation of permeable 
paving or similar permeable material for the management of total surface 
water flows, and water filtering in accordance with Coventry City Council's 
adopted Supplementary Planning Document for 'Delivering a More 
Sustainable City'. 

xii) Evidence to show the management of overland flow routes in the event of 
exceedance or blockage to the drainage system. Details should include 
demonstration of how the building will be protected in such an event. Finished 
floor slab levels must be 300mm above the 1 in 100 year pluvial flood levels. 

xiii) Where new or redevelopment site levels result in the severance, 
diversion or the reception of natural land drainage flow, the developer shall 
maintain existing flow routes (where there are no flood risk or safety 
implications) or intercept these flows and discharge these by a method 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

xiv) The drainage strategy should not result in top water levels of attenuation 
structures being above the natural ground level and must achieve a 300mm 
freeboard, in relation to this existing ground level, at the 1 in 100 year plus 
climate change event. 

xv) Where an attenuation structure is located adjacent to Public Highway 
boundary, the applicant should demonstrate the structural adequacy of the 
attenuation structure to safeguard Public Highway. 

xvi) Foul drainage plans 
 

Page 65



 
 

This will be discussed under the Drainage section. 
 
HOUSING MIX 
Policy H4 of the Coventry Local Plan requires proposals for residential development to 
include a mix of market housing which contributes towards a balance of house types 
and sizes across the city as set out within the ‘Coventry & Warwickshire Housing & 
Economic Development Needs Assessment’ (HEDNA), dated November 2022. 
 
The HEDNA suggests a mix of market housing as the following: 
1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4+ bedrooms 
10% 40% 40% 10% 

 
 
The following table sets out the proposed bedroom numbers. 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom 5 Bedroom Total 
4no. 
dwellings 

45no. 
dwellings 

63no. 
dwellings 

57no 
dwelling 

2no dwelling 171 

 
Split as follows between private and affordable housing. 

 
Private Housing 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom 5 Bedroom Total 
0 22no. 

dwellings 
50no. 
dwellings 

55no 
dwelling 

2no 
dwelling 

129 

 
Affordable Housing 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom Total 
4no. dwellings 23no. 

dwellings 
13no. dwellings 2no dwelling 42 

 
 
The table below shows the percentage of the housing mix and how it compares with the 
suggested mix within the HEDNA. 
 
No. of 
Bedrooms 

Total % as 
proposed 

% HEDNA 

1no. 4no. 2.34% 10% 
2no. 45no. 26.32% 40% 
3no. 63no. 36.84% 40% 
4no. 59no. 34.50% 10% 

 
The table highlights that the site is providing more 4+ houses then the HEDNA 
suggests, and less one and two bedrooms. 
 
The HEDNA is a suggestion for a housing mix across the City, however in assessing 
the proposals officers are mindful of the location, being a green field site, which is better 
able to accommodate the larger family houses whereas some other sites in the existing 
urban area will not be able to.  Taking all of the above into account, on balance the 
application is in accordance with Policy H4. 

Page 66



 
 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
The outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, granted the permission to develop the site for 
housing.  Attached to the outline permission is a S106 agreement, Schedule 1 
Affordable Housing Obligations secures 25% affordable housing, to be in accordance 
with the adopted Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
 
The requirement is therefore 25% of 171 houses which is 43no. 
 
The Affordable Housing Schedule is as below. 
 
1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4 Bedroom Total 
4no. dwellings 23no. 

dwellings 
13no. dwellings 2no dwelling 42 

 
 

No. of 
Bedrooms 

Social Rent Intermediate 
(Discounted 
low cost) 

Affordable 
Rent 

Affordable 
Housing 
Total 

% 

1no. 2 0 2 4no. 13.95% 
2no. 7 10 6 18no. 41.86% 
3no. 3 7 3 12no. 37.21% 
4no. 1 0 1 3no.   6.98% 
Total 13 17 12 42no.  

 
Whilst there are only three 4 bed affordable units overall, they are all social rented units 
and the social rented mix has over half of the units as three and four bed units, which 
serves those most in need. 
 
There are no four-bedroomed affordable rent or intermediate units as they would not be 
truly affordable for people in housing need.  
 
OPEN SPACE AND PARKS 
Open Space – Development Provision 
Policy GE1 of the Coventry Local Plan states new development proposals should make 
provision for green infrastructure to ensure that such development is integrated into the 
landscape and contributes to improvements in connectivity and public access, 
biodiversity, landscape conservation, design, archaeology and recreation. 
 
As stated above, Condition No.4 attached to the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, 
required the entire redline area of the outline to provide for a provision of a children’s 
equipped play area, called a LEAP. 
 
The current application seeks permission for the outstanding reserved matters associated 
with appearance, landscaping, layout and scale in relation to 171no dwellings out of the 
550no dwellings approved under OUT/2019/0484. 
 
As set out under the history section of the report, there is one additional application that 
have been submitted against the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, namely, 
RMM/2022/1982. 

Page 67



 
 

 
Due to the size and constraints of this application site, the Local Equipment Area for Play 
(LEAP) will be located within the other parcel contained within the outline permission, 
namely RMM/2022/1982. 
 
The application is in accordance with Condition No.4 of the outline permission thus far. 
 
 
HIGHWAYS, ACCESS AND PARKING 
Policy AC1 ‘Accessible Transport Network’ of the Coventry Local Plan states that 
development proposals which are expected to generate additional trips on the transport 
network should:  
a) Integrate with existing transport networks including roads, public transport and walking 
and cycling routes to promote access by a choice of transport modes.  
b) Consider the transport and accessibility needs of everyone living, working or visiting 
the city.  
c) Support the delivery of new and improved high-quality local transport networks which 
are closely integrated into the built form.  
d) Actively support the provision and integration of emerging and future intelligent mobility 
infrastructure. 
 
Policy AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan states new development proposals which are 
predicted to have a negative impact on the capacity and/or safety of the highway network 
should mitigate and manage the traffic growth which they are predicted to generate to 
ensure that they do not cause unacceptable levels of traffic congestion, highway safety 
problems and poor air quality’. Highway mitigation and management measures should 
focus firstly on demand management measures (Policy AC3) including the promotion of 
sustainable modes of travel, and secondly on the delivery of appropriate highway 
capacity interventions. Highway capacity interventions should be appropriate to the scale 
of development and expected impact and will be determined through the associated 
Transport Assessment. 
 
Accesses 
The outline permission, OUT/2019/0484 approved the main access and the secondary, 
emergency access to the site as shown on approved drawing Access and Movement 
Parameter Plan – Drawing No. P16- 0926_10-01D. 
 
FUL/2022/1981 approved the details of the main access into the site together with the 
main road loop into and back out of the site. 
 
A subsequent discharge of condition application PL/2023/0001216/DCA has been 
submitted which seeks to discharge the engineering details of the approved access 
under the outline (OUT/2019/0484) and the subsequent full application 
(FUL/2022/1981) which approved the main infrastructure for the site.   
 
The access details are also currently in the final stages of their technical approval under 
the Highways Act 1980 (S278).  A section 278 agreement (or s278) is a section of 
the Highways Act 1980 that allows developers to enter into a legal agreement with the 
council (in the capacity as the Local Highway Authority (LHA)) to make permanent 
alterations or improvements to a public highway, as part of a planning approval. 

Page 68



 
 

The principle of the main access is approved. 
 
Pedestrian and Cycle Access 
It will be more appropriate to provide the highest quality cycle infrastructure within the 
main access road corridor.  
 
The main road through the site has been approved under FUL/2022/1981. 
 
Accordingly, a 3m cycle track and 2m footway is provided on one side with the other 
being a 2m wide footway, with the appropriate separation margins between the 
carriageway and the cycle track and footways. 
 
Off this ‘Avenue’ road there are several spurs which access to the housing proposed 
within this application.   
 
All roads have been tracked with a refuse vehicle and fire engines and a Road Safety 
Audit (RSA) has been completed and approved by the Local Highways Authority (LHA). 
 
As amended Local Highways Authority (LHA) raise no objections to the proposed 
layout. 
 
Sustainable Transport Routes 
Aside from the avenue typology road mentioned above, there are a number of shared 
pedestrian and cycle paths which dissect the site. 
 
The existing Public Right of Way (PRoW) runs along the northern boundary with 
RMM/2022/1982 and is not impacted on by this current application.  A shared footpath / 
cycleway will be provided along the western side of Bennetts Road North, which links into 
the existing footpath off site, also being provided by RMM/2022/1982. 
 
With regards to the current application, there are additional two areas where one, can 
access the site via foot or cycle; one where the emergency access is and a new footpath 
link just north of The Hollies, an existing residential property. 
 
As stated above, this site is linked with another reserved matters application, 
RMM/2022/1982 and FUL/2022/1981 which has approved the ‘Avenue’ road into and 
around the site.  Therefore, there will be opportunities present where users will be able 
to travel into and around the site by other means then than a motor vehicle. 
 
A further cycle / pedestrian route is then provided along the western boundary of 
RMM/2022/1982 which is accessed via the main road, the ‘Avenue’, which will meet up 
with the existing PRoW at Thompsons Lane. 
 
Bus Provision 
Travel for West Midlands (TfWM) do not object to the application due to a collaborative 
approach being taken for the entire SUE.  S106 monies were secured which will extend 
the No.16 / 16A service, under the outline permission. 
 
The bus stop and shelter are being provided on the sister site, RMM/2022/1982. 
 

Page 69



 
 

 
Parking 
The Coventry Connected SPD which contains amended appendix 5 of the Coventry Local 
Plan states for one bedroomed property, one car parking space is required and for all 2+ 
bedroomed properties, two off road car parking spaces are required. 
  
All the properties have the required amount of parking. 
 
Visitor Parking 
Amended Appendix 5, of the Coventry Local Plan sets out the requirement for visitor 
spaces as one unallocated space per five, one bedroomed dwellings; a two bedroomed 
property requires one unallocated space per ten dwellings and one unallocated space 
per five three bedroomed dwellings. 
 
The application requires 31no spaces with 28no officially unallocated spaces are shown, 
however, there are more instances where cars can park without causing harm to the 
safety of the highway or create parking stress to the detriment of the residents. 
 
On this basis, the proposed dwellings each have the maximum requirement of two off 
road parking spaces per each house and is in accordance with Policy AC3 of the Coventry 
Local Plan and the Coventry Connected SPD. 
 
Conclusion 
Members can be assured that the entire Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) at Keresley 
has been robustly modelled in terms of its traffic impacts on the local and strategic 
highway network.  All appropriate mitigation has been agreed with not only the Local 
Highway Authority (LHA) but also neighbouring Highway Authorities (Warwickshire 
County Council (WCC)) and Highways England who are in charge of the national 
strategic highway network. 
 
The access into the site from Bennetts Road North has been agreed under the outline 
permission, OUT/2019/0484.  The full constructional and engineering details have been 
approved under FUL/2022/1981. 
 
The emergency access is providing a shared pedestrian and cycle access to the site. 
 
Pedestrian and cycle routes are provided in and around the site.  The site provides a safe 
route for people to walk and cycle. 
 
The existing bus provision is being extended, funded by all the parcels of the SUE, 
including this current application.  One bike hire stations is being provided within the site 
and spaces for a car club. 
 
Each residential property is being provided with the policy compliment parking, with all 
one-bedroom properties having one dedicated car parking spaces and all two plus 
bedroomed properties having at least two dedicated parking spaces. There are also a 
number of visitor spaces dotted around the site in accordance with the Policy AC3 of the 
Coventry Local Plan. 
 

Page 70



 
 

Taking all of the above into account, the application is in accordance with the 
aforementioned policies of the Coventry Local Plan together with the aims and objectives 
of the NPPF. 
 
 
LAYOUT 
Policy DS4 (Part A) – General Masterplan principles states where the site is identified as 
an allocation within the Local Plan it should plan positively to meet in full the requirements 
identified within the relevant policies associated with the allocation. Where the proposal 
represents a phase or phases of a wider scheme however, the quantum of development 
should reflect the relative size and characteristics of the phase, including its position 
within the wider site. 
 
Policy DS4 (Part C) - In addition to the general principles outlined in Policy DS4 (Part A) 
of the Coventry Local Plan, the development proposals which relate to this area should 
also have regard to the relevant requirements which include the incorporation of the 
recommendations of the Council’s SUE Design Guidance SPD.  Identify clear access 
points to the site and make appropriate provisions for new transport infrastructure and 
highway improvements to support the comprehensive delivery of the site. This should 
include: a) The provision of a new Link Road in accordance with Policy H2. The Link 
Road should be operational to traffic prior to the full completion of all development 
components within the SUE; b) The delivery of the Link Road should not be to the 
detriment of ProLogis Park; and c) The management of the existing highway junctions at 
Bennetts Road, Tamworth Road, Fivefield Road, Sandpits Lane, Thompsons Lane, Long 
Lane and Watery Lane to ensure they continue to operate in a safe and appropriate way. 
 
As originally submitted, there were a number of issues raised with regards to the 
proposed layout from a highway safety and from an urban design point of view.  On 
submission the roads took a very uniformed approach, with no variation in building 
lines. 
 
As set out within the Urban Extension Design Guide SPD which is intended to provide a 
clear guide and steer for how new larger developments within the area should be 
designed and delivered. 
 
The SPD sets out a street hierarchy as: - 

 Keresley Link Road 
 Avenue 
 Internal Roads 
 Lanes 
 Courtyards 
 Edge Roads 

 
Keresley Link Road (KLR) 
This road is not relevant to this site.  The KLR is located further south and connects 
Tamworth Road to Bennetts Road, so far. 
 
 

Page 71



 
 

Avenue 
The Avenues act as the main access road into the site, this are less formal then the 
KLR, but still provides a 3m cycle track and 2m footway is provided on one side and 
with a 2m footway on the other side.   
 
Internal Roads 
Internal roads are intended to act as the main access route into medium sized 
development parcels or as an interface between boulevards and the more intimate less 
formal routes and spaces. They share the same characteristics as avenues – footways 
with kerb upstands and conventional carriageways. 
 
Lanes 
Lanes are more intimate shared spaces where there is no designated footway or 
carriageway. They should have no overtly direct vehicle route through, with trees, 
planting beds and street furniture placed in such a way as to slow vehicle speeds. They 
are narrower in width than Internal Roads and are surfaced with more materials such as 
blocks, resin bonded gravel or coloured tarmac as these will re-enforce the more 
informal nature of this street type and help create a more intimate feel and character. 
 
Courtyards 
Courtyard clusters of dwellings present the opportunity to reflect/reinterpret the 
farmyard typology that is prevalent throughout the Arden area. 
 
Edge Roads 
Edge roads will play an important part in both integrating the new developments with 
the wider open countryside whilst at the same time providing the views from the open 
countryside into the new development. 
 
Proposal 
The main road, accessing the site from Bennetts Road, forms a loop into the site and 
the tails off to the west.  This road takes the form of the ‘Avenue’ typology. 
 
The avenue road has been approved under FUL/2022/1981.  The current application 
will have accesses from the main avenue road in the form of lanes, which are all 
informal meandering streets. 
 
Due to the size of the parcel and its location backing onto existing residential properties, 
no edge roads are proposed.  However, four private drives are proposed. 
 
The application has been tracked with a fire tender and refuse vehicles.  
 
Taking all of the above into account, the application is in accordance with the 
aforementioned policies of the Coventry Local Plan together with the aims and objectives 
of the NPPF. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



 
 

ECOLOGY, BIODIVERSITY AND TREES 
Ecology and Biodiversity 
Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan states that Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSIs), Local Nature Reserves (LNRs), Ancient Woodlands, Local Wildlife and 
Geological Sites will be protected and enhanced. 
 
The comments relating to biodiversity are noted. 
 
The outline application, OUT/2019/0484, assessed the impact of the proposed 
development. A Biodiversity Impact Assessment was submitted with the outline 
application.  Based on that indicative masterplan and the associated open space 
information the proposed development was concluded to result in the loss of 
approximately 2.52 units representing only 6.2% of the existing habitat. 
 
The biodiversity loss is compensated against by a contribution via the S.106 agreement 
attached to the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484. 
 
The contribution required the sum of £101,287.00 to be paid to the council to mitigate the 
impacts of the development on biodiversity. 
 
Trees 
Policy GE4 of the Coventry Local Plan states that trees make a valuable contribution to 
the city’s green landscape. New developments should seek to retain existing trees and 
other landscape features, incorporating them into a high-quality design and landscape 
proposals where possible. Should loss be unavoidable, compensatory provision of new 
trees should be proposed as part of a well-designed landscape scheme. 
 
Condition No.4, imposed on the outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, set a number of 
parameters that the application has to meet. 
 
4(ii) - Retention of trees, tree groups and hedgerows indicated for retention in the 
submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment September 2019 
 
Condition No.17, of the outline permission (OUT/2019/0484) also requires the 
submission of an Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA), an Arboricultural Method 
Statement (AMS) and a dimensioned Tree Protection Plan (TPP). 
 
The application has been supported by an AMENDED REPORT - Arboricultural 
Assessment - Lioncourt Parcel, dated 14th April 2023 Rev D 
 
During the consideration of FUL/2022/1981 it became apparent that a number of trees 
had been vandalised.   
 
Therefore, the only difference between the outline and the reserved matters from a tree 
retention perspective is the loss of T10. 
 
However, the location of this tree has no impact on the layout for the housing proposed 
under this current application. 
 

Page 73



 
 

On this basis, the application is considered to be in accordance with the outline 
permission and the aforementioned of the Coventry Local Plan. 
 
DRAINAGE 
Policy EM4 of the Coventry Local Plan states all major development must be assessed 
in respect of the level of floor risk from all sources. 
 
Policy EM5 of the Coventry Local Plan states all development must apply SuDS and 
should ensure that surface water runoff is managed as close to its source as possible. 
 
The outline permission, OUT/2019/0484, assessed the impact of the development of 
flooding and drainage issues. 
 
The sustainable urban drainage (SUDs) proposed to support the housing development 
covered by this current application and the other reserved matters application 
RMM/2022/1982, has been approved under FUL/2022/1981. 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority were satisfied with the surface water drainage proposals 
and no objections are raised against the current application subject to conditions. 
 
 
DESIGN, SCALE, MASSING AND LAYOUT 
Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan seeks to ensure high quality design and 
development proposals must respect and enhance their surroundings and positively 
contribute towards the local identity and character of an area. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 130 states that “Planning policies 
and decisions should ensure that developments: 

a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short 
term but over the lifetime of the development; 

b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping; 

c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities); 

d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and 
distinctive places to live, work and visit; 

e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and 
support local facilities and transport networks; and 

f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health 
and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and 
where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of 
life or community cohesion and resilience. 

 
The NPPF further states (at paragraph 134) “Permission should be refused for 
development of that is not well designed that fails to reflect local design policies and 
government guidance on design.  Conversely, significant weight should be given to: 

Page 74



 
 

a) development which reflects local design policies and government guidance on 
design; and/or 

b) outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability or 
help raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit in 
with the overall form and layout of their surroundings. 

 
LPAs should seek to ensure that the quality of approved development is not materially 
diminished between permission and completion, as a result of changes being made to 
the permitted scheme (for example through changes to approved details such as the 
materials used).” (Paragraph 135no.). 
 
On submission the house types were considered lacking in ancient Arden details.  As 
amended a diverse approach to housing design has now been provided.  This ensures 
that there is a variety of character and texture across the developments as opposed to 
a homogeneous swathe of development.  The house types include pitch gabled roofs, 
blue brick bases, a complimentary brick along with variation of external materials with 
the inclusion of weatherboarding and render. 
 
The way in which dwellings sit alongside each other, how they address corners and 
bends, the location and design of bin and cycle storage and the location of any retaining 
structures has also been extensively considered with the proposal now more closely 
following the street hierarchy as set out within the SUE SPD.  This has enabled the 
different character areas to be bought out. 
 
The proposal provides suitable garden areas for all houses and all flats either have a 
private balcony or a private garden area. 
 
All properties have the required number of off-road car parking spaces and there are 
sufficient visitor spaces being provided around the site. 
 
All separation distances are met within and outside the site.  There is no impact on 
existing neighbouring properties through visual intrusion or loss of light. 
 
Members will note the application was first validated in 2022.   Officers have worked 
extensively with the applicant, who have been amenable to the suggestions put 
forward.  The proposals have been through various iterations and revisions.  The 
layouts have been tracked for a bin lorry and fire engine; updated tree constraints plans 
have been submitted which show how the development can come forward whilst not 
only retaining the existing trees for now but for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Taking into account all of the above, it is considered that the proposed development will 
function well and has achieved permeability throughout the site, which not only links the 
proposed development but also links to the wider area for greater benefit; have been 
designed with the ancient Arden in mind but whilst also providing its own character by 
being sympathetic to the local area.  All existing trees are being retained as required by 
the outline permission.  The site is using its topography by providing the SUDs and 
therefore a dedicated public open space which is interactable and useable within the 
low-lying level of the site which have been approved under FUL/2022/1981. 
 

Page 75



 
 

The street typologies have mirrored the guidance as set down within the SUE SPD with 
pedestrian / cycle routes and sustainable transport options at the forefront of the 
design, the proposal therefore creates a high-quality, beautiful, and sustainable place 
and is in accordance with the NPPF and Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan. 
 
 
AIR QUALITY 
Policy H1 of the Coventry Local Plan states future housing will be designed to create 
new and stable communities.   
 
Policy EM7 of the Coventry Local Plan states major development proposals will require 
the submission of an air quality assessment, as they may lead to a significant 
deterioration in local air quality resulting in unacceptable effects on human health, local 
amenity or the natural environment.  
 
The Air Quality SPD simplifies the consideration of air quality impacts associated with 
development schemes and focus on incorporation of mitigation at the design stage, 
countering the cumulative impacts of aggregated developments, providing clarity to 
developers and defining ‘sustainability’ in air quality terms. 
 
The Site is located within the Coventry citywide Air Quality Management Area which 
was designated for the potential exceedance of the annual mean nitrogen dioxide 
(NO2) air quality objective.  
 
The outline application, OUT/2019/0484, assessed the impact of the proposed 
development on Air Quality. 
 
The application is for submission of reserved matters, where the principle of the 
development has been approved under OUT/2019/0484.  The reserved matters are 
required to come forward in accordance with that permission and the conditions attached 
to it. 
 
Condition No.6 of the outline permission requires low NOx boilers and for the provision 
of one EV charging point per dwelling.  This is a compliance condition which requires all 
the properties to have these elements installed prior to occupation. 
  
Condition No.13 of the outline permission requires the submission of a Construction 
Management Plan (CMP) prior to the commencement of development.  This deals with  
hours of work; hours of deliveries to the site; the parking of vehicles of site operatives 
and visitors during the demolition/construction phase; the delivery access point and 
routes for HGV's to access the site from the West Midlands Key Route Network; the 
loading and unloading of plant and materials; anticipated size and frequency of vehicles 
moving to/from the site; the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the  
development; measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during demolition and 
construction; measures to control the presence of asbestos; measures to minimise 
noise disturbance to neighbouring properties during demolition and construction; details 
of any piling together with details of how any associated vibration will be monitored and 
controlled. 
 
 

Page 76



 
 

NOISE 
Policy H1 of the Coventry Local Plan states future housing will be designed to create 
new and stable communities.   
 
The outline permission assessed the impact of housing on the site and imposed a 
condition No.12, which required noise assessments to be submitted with the reserved 
matters applications. 
 
On submission the application was supported by REPORT - Noise Assessment, dated 
4th April 2022 - Report Ref:80438-SRL-RP-YA-01-P1.   
 
The report highlighted that the external amenity areas for properties alongside 
Bennett’s Road will exceed the 55dB limit.  The suggestion in the report states that as 
some of the gardens achieve the limit that this is acceptable.  
 
However, this was not considered acceptable as the adopted Air Quality SPD seeks to 
minimise pollution and not put proposed properties at maximum exposure.  We have a 
duty to provide for healthy housing and sustainable developments. 
 
An updated noise report was submitted on 28th April 2023, AMENDED REPORT - 
Noise Assessment, dated 27th April 2023 - Report Ref:81333-SRL-RP-YA-01-S2-P2. 
 
The noise was measured at the site from 8th to 9th March 2022 to determine the 
existing environmental noise that is likely to affect the proposed dwellings.  Road traffic 
noise was the dominant noise source at all positions. Additional noise sources 
consisted of local wildlife, typical residential noise such as lawnmowers, and the 
occasional overhead aircraft. Low levels of noise from the M6 to the north were audible 
during lulls in local noise. 
 
All of the proposed plots can meet guideline internal noise levels in accordance with BS 
8233 with ‘standard’ thermal double glazing and non-acoustic trickle ventilators. 
 
A small number of facades will need enhanced acoustic trickle ventilators to meet the 
guideline indoor ambient noise levels. These relate to Plots No.484, No.485 & No.486, 
No.499 & No.500. 
 
All gardens will be below 50 dB LAeq. This means that all external amenity areas will 
meet the BS 8233 guidelines for external amenity areas, and no further noise mitigation 
is required. 
 
Environmental Protection raise no objections subject to conditions. 
 
Objections have been raised against the application with regards to the impact on noise 
on existing residents that will be impact by the construction of the development.  The 
outline permission continued a condition (No.13), which required the submission of a 
construction management plan (CMP) prior to any commencement on site.  The CMP 
will cover a number of items but specifically is required to submitted information in 
relation to what measures the developers will employ in order to minimise noise 
disturbance to neighbouring properties during demolition and construction. 
 

Page 77



 
 

No objections are raised to the application on the grounds of noise, subject to 
conditions. 
 
 
CONTAMINATED LAND 
Policy EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan seeks to ensure that redevelopment of 
previously developed land does not have a negative impact on water quality, either 
directly through pollution of surface or ground water or indirectly through the treatment 
of wastewater by whatever means. 
 
The outline application, OUT/2019/0484, assessed the impact of the proposed 
development on contaminated land and secured conditions for an Investigation and 
Risk Assessment to be submitted prior to commencement of any works on the site, 
please see condition No.7, attached to OUT/2019/0484.   
 
Condition No.8 and No.9, attached to OUT/2019/0484, required a detailed remediation 
scheme to be submitted and implement prior to commencement of the remediation 
works and condition No.10 required a verification report to be submitted. 
 
 
ARCHAEOLOGY 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 197 states the LPA should take 
into account the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 
assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and 
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness. 
 
Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 
 
Paragraph 200 of the NPPF states any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within 
its setting), should require clear and convincing justification.  
  
Policy HE2 of the Coventry Local Plan ‘Conservation and Heritage Assets’ which is 
relevant to locally listed buildings and conservation areas, states that in order to help 
sustain the historic character, sense of place, environmental quality and local 
distinctiveness of Coventry, development proposals will be supported where they 
conserve and, where appropriate, enhance those aspects of the historic environment 
which are recognised as being of special historic, archaeological, architectural, artistic, 
landscape or townscape significance. Proposals likely to affect the significance of a 
heritage asset or its setting should demonstrate an understanding of such significance 
using currently available evidence. Development proposals involving heritage assets in 
general and listed buildings in particular, should acknowledge the significance of the 

Page 78



 
 

existing building and the area by means of their siting, massing, form, scale, materials 
and detail. 
 
A programme of archaeological trenching was warranted. An Archaeological Evaluation 
of the development land was undertaken under the outline application.  This included the 
digging of 34 Trenches each measuring 30 metres long. Archaeological remains were 
very sparse and comprised two charcoal rich pits located in the centre of site. A number 
of agricultural features were spread across the area and the majority of features 
investigated were modern with several identified during the geophysics found to be field 
drains. A large modern borrow pit was found in one trench and a furrow was found in 
another containing an abraded fragment of medieval pottery. Post-medieval and modern 
pottery was found in the topsoil across the site and the southwestern field was also found 
to contain a fragment of medieval pottery. The majority of trenches were negative for 
features and therefore no further investigation was required. 
 
This was done prior to determination of the application as any findings could have had 
an impact on the layout of the site and therefore the quantum of development proposed. 
 
On the basis of the submission under the outline permission, the developable area was 
agreed and formed part of Condition No.4. 
 
 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended), commonly known as s106 agreements, are a mechanism which make a 
development proposal acceptable in planning terms, that would not otherwise be 
acceptable. They are focused on site specific mitigation of the impact of development.  
 
The legal tests for when you can use a s106 agreement are set out in regulation 122 
and 123 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 as amended. 
 
The tests are: 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 Directly related to the development; and 
 Fairly and related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
As well as the legal tests, the policy tests are contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF): 
 
Paragraph 55. Local planning authorities should consider whether otherwise 
unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or 
planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible 
to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. 
 
Paragraph 56. Planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and only imposed 
where they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, 
enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects. Agreeing conditions early is 
beneficial to all parties involved in the process and can speed up decision making. 

Page 79



 
 

Conditions that are required to be discharged before development commences should 
be avoided unless there is a clear justification. 
 
Paragraph 57. Planning obligations must only be sought where they meet all of the 
tests mentioned above. 
 
Policy IM1 ‘Developer Contributions for Infrastructure’ of the CLP states that 
development will be expected to provide or contribute towards provision of: a) 
Measures to directly mitigate its impact and make it acceptable in planning terms; and 
b) Physical, social and green infrastructure to support the needs associated with the 
development. 
 
The outline permission, OUT/2019/0484 secured a number of contributions and 
requirements via a S106 agreement dated 5th July 2022.  The current reserved matters 
application is bound by the terms of the S106 agreement. 
 
The contributions are summarised below. 
 
Affordable Housing 

 25% 

Biodiversity 
 £101,287.00 towards offsetting measures 

CCG 
 £266,687.45 towards off site primary care and healthcare facilities 

Education 
 £1,182,000.00 towards primary provision 
 £56,916.00 towards SEN primary provision 
 £1,918,466.00 towards secondary provision 
 £379,000.57 towards post 16 provision. 
 £86,156.00 towards secondary and post 16 SEN provision. 

Highways 
 £3,568,585.79 towards the Keresley Link Road 
 £200,000.00 towards the resurfacing of Thompson Lane 
 £7,500.00 towards the provision of a traffic monitoring camera the site access 

junction 
 £448,372.63 towards the costs of Long Lane to Holyhead Road super cycle 

highway. 
 £860,898.85 towards the costs of Bennetts Road to Barker Butts Lane cycle 

provision. 
 £100,000.00 upgrading footpaths to cycleways. 
 £49,050.00 for the West Midlands Cycle Hire Scheme 
 £23,000.00 towards road markings for an online cycle lane 
 £275,000.00 for the provision of a shared use footway / cycle track at Bennetts 

Road 
 £22,000.00 towards a crossing point 

Page 80



 
 

 £187,720.85 towards the provision of Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) 
 £205,573.00 towards the extension of the 16/16A bus service 
 £6,800 towards travel plan monitoring 
 £14,125.00 towards residential travel plans 
 £15,039.75 towards household surveys 
 £32,155.48 towards a travel plan coordinator 
 £20,318.21 towards traffic surveys 
 £75,000 towards car club 
 £470,394.80 towards mobility credits 
 £366,500.00 towards improvement works at Junction 3 of the M6 
 £111,284.09 towards improvements to Winding House Lane/Wheelwright 

Junction 

NHS 
 £256,000.27 towards provision of additional acute care and accident and 

emergency care services 

Parks 
 £59,000 towards BMX/skate provision and/or green gym/path at Keresley End 

Recreation Ground 

 
Sports Contributions 

 £457,434.00 towards a sports hall/swimming pool 
 £316,000.46 towards grass playing pitches 
 £255,000.00 towards changing room facilities. 

 
 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS  
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 
149 states:-  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and 
the matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this 
application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 

Page 81



 
 

CONCLUSION 
The Council cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply, therefore the tilted 
balance is engaged, and permission must be granted unless any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 
 
The application site is located within the Keresley Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE), 
an allocated housing site within the Coventry Local Plan, specifically H2:1.  The 
principle of development is therefore accepted. 
 
Application OUT/2019/0484 was submitted; heard at the 27th May 2021 Planning 
Committee meeting which subsequently approved the erection of up to 500 residential 
dwellings with all matters reserved with the exception of access and comprising of: The 
demolition of Thompsons Cottage and associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open space, sustainable urban drainage, green 
networks, play space and associated structural and general landscaping; A vehicular 
access point and emergency access point onto Bennetts Road North; A network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All associated infrastructure and enabling works. 
 
The redline site area for application OUT/2019/0484 extends to some 20.7ha. 
 
Therefore, the principle of developing the site for housing has been approved and this 
application concentrates solely on the outstanding reserved matters relating to the 
appearance and scale of the proposed house, together with the layout and landscaping 
of the proposed site. 
 
FUL/2022/1981 approved the main access road into the site which was designed as the 
’Avenue’ typology and included the segregated LTN 1/20 compliant cycle and 
pedestrian route.  Accordingly, a 3m cycle track and 2m footway is provided on one 
side with the other being a 2m wide footway, with the appropriate separation margins 
between the carriageway and the cycle track and footways. 
 
The application is in accordance with the parameter conditions as set down within the 
outline permission, OUT/2019/0484. 
 
The housing mix provides for the larger family homes which are required on greenfield 
sites and for the policy compliant amount and tenure of affordable housing is also being 
provided. 
 
The existing bus provision is being extended, funded by all the parcels of the SUE, 
including this current application.  This entire outline site also provides a bus stop and 
shelter provision, together with a bike hire station and spaces for a car club. 
 
Each residential property is being provided with the policy compliant parking, with all one-
bedroom properties having one dedicated car parking spaces and all two plus bedroomed 
properties having at least two dedicated parking spaces. There are also visitor spaces 
dotted around the site and the site has been tracked with a fire tender and refuse vehicles.  
 
The way in which dwellings sit alongside each other, how they address corners and 
bends, the location and design of bin and cycle storage and the location of any retaining 

Page 82



 
 

structures has also been extensively considered with the proposal now more closely 
following the street hierarchy as set out within the SUE SPD.  This has enabled the 
different character areas to be bought out. 
 
The proposal provides suitable garden areas for all houses and all flats either have a 
private balcony or a private garden area.  All separation distances are met within and 
outside the site.  There is no impact on existing neighbouring properties through visual 
intrusion or loss of light. 
 
All of the proposed plots can meet guideline internal noise levels in accordance with BS 
8233 with ‘standard’ thermal double glazing and non-acoustic trickle ventilators. 
 
All gardens will be below 50 dB LAeq, T. This means that all external amenity areas will 
meet the BS 8233 guidelines for external amenity areas, and no further noise mitigation 
is required. 
 
The application has gone through many iterations, and I am firmly of the view that the 
scheme is of a very high standard of design, in terms of the buildings themselves, and 
the spaces between them. 
 
The application is therefore in accordance with the Coventry Local Plan and no material 
considerations indicate that a different decision should be reached, even without 
engaging the tilted balance. 
 

CONDITIONS / REASONS 

1. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans:  

 AMENDED DRAWING - Planning Layout - Whole Site - Drawing 
No.KETF-PL-002 Rev F (B&W) 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Hard Landscaping - Whole Site - Drawing 
No.KETF-LA-502 Rev B 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Planning Layout - Whole Site - Drawing 
No.KETF-PL-002 Rev F (B&W) 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Planning Layout - Whole Site - Drawing 
No.KETF-PL-002 Rev F (Colour) 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Materials Plan - Whole Site - Drawing 
No.KETF-PL-003 Rev B 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Boundaries Plan - Whole Site - Drawing 
No.KETF-PL-004 Rev B 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Affordable Housing - Whole Site - Drawing 
No.KETF-PL-005 Rev B 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Accommodation Schedule - Whole Site - 
Drawing No.KETF-PL-006 Rev D 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Adoptions and Management - Whole Site - 
Drawing No.KETF-PL-008 Rev B 

Page 83



 
 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Parking and Cycle Storage - Whole Site - 
Drawing No.KETF-PL-009 Rev B 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Characters Areas Plan - Whole Site - 
Drawing No.KETF-PL-010 Rev A 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Soft Landscape Proposals - Drawing 
No.KETF-LA-501.1-Soft Landscaping Sheet 1 Rev C 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Soft Landscape Proposals - Drawing 
No.KETF-LA-501.2-Soft Landscaping Sheet 2 Rev C 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Soft Landscape Proposals - Drawing 
No.KETF-LA-501.3-Soft Landscaping Sheet 3 Rev C 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Soft Landscape Proposals - Drawing 
No.KETF-LA-501.4-Soft Landscaping Sheet 4 Rev C 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Soft Landscape Proposals - Drawing 
No.KETF-LA-501.5-Soft Landscaping Sheet 5 Rev C 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Soft Landscape Proposals - Drawing 
No.KETF-LA-501.6-Soft Landscaping Sheet 6 Rev C 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Soft Landscape Proposals - Drawing 
No.KETF-LA-501.7-Soft Landscaping Sheet 7 Rev C 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Soft Landscape Proposals - Drawing 
No.KETF-LA-501.8-Soft Landscaping Sheet 8 Rev C 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Soft Landscape Proposals - Drawing 
No.KETF-LA-501.9-Soft Landscaping Sheet 9 Rev C 

 
 
  

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
  

2. 

The existing tree(s) and hedge(s) indicated on the approved plan AMENDED 
DRAWING - Planning Layout - Whole Site - Drawing No.KETF-PL-002 Rev 
F to be retained shall not be cut down, grubbed out or otherwise removed or 
topped or lopped so that the height of the hedge(s) falls below 2m at any 
point. Any tree(s) and/or hedge(s) removed without consent or dying, or 
being severely damaged or diseased or becomes; in the opinion of the Local 
Planning Authority; seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced within 
the next planting season with hedging, tree(s) and/or shrub(s) of such size 
and species details of which must be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. All hedging, tree(s) and shrub(s) shall be planted in 
accordance with British Standard BS 8545:2014 Trees: from nursery to 
independence in the landscape - Recommendations and BS4428 - Code of 
Practice for General Landscape Operations (excluding hard surfaces). 

Reason 

To protect those landscape features which are of significant amenity value 
to the area and which would provide an enhanced standard of appearance 
to the development in accordance with Policies GE3, GE4 and HE2 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

Page 84



 
 

3. 

No development or other operations (including any demolition, site 
clearance or other preparatory works) shall commence unless and until the 
tree protection measures identified in the approved application 
documentation, namely AMENDED REPORT - Arboricultural Assessment - 
Bloor Parcel, dated 14th April 2023 - Report Ref.D, have been put into 
place in strict accordance with the approved details and thereafter they 
shall remain in place during all construction work. In addition no 
excavations, site works, stock piling, trenches or channels shall be cut or 
pipes or services laid, no fires shall be lit within 10 metres of the nearest 
point of the canopy or root protection area of any protected tree(s); no 
equipment, machinery or structure shall be located within this zone; no 
mixing of cement or use of other contaminating materials or substances 
shall take place within, or close enough to, a root protection area that 
seepage or displacement could cause them to enter a root protection area 
or any other works carried out in such a way as to cause damage or injury 
to the tree(s) by interference with their root structure and that no soil or 
waste shall be deposited on the land in such a position as to be likely to 
cause damage or injury to the tree(s). 
 

Reason 

To protect those trees which are of significant amenity value to the area and 
which would provide an enhanced standard of appearance to the 
development in accordance with Policy GE3 and GE4 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016. 
  

4. 

Any on-plot landscaping (other than the planting of trees and shrubs) 
including the erection of boundary treatment, and the installation of paving 
and footpaths (which shall be made of porous materials or provision shall be 
made to direct run-off water from the hard surface to a permeable or porous 
area), as shown on the approved plans namely, AMENDED DRAWING - 
Planning Layout - Whole Site - Drawing No.KETF-PL-002 Rev F, unless 
alternative details have been approved via a discharge of condition 
application, shall be completed in all respects within three months of the first 
use of that dwelling(s) and the tree(s) and shrub(s) shall be planted within 
the first planting season of that first use. Any tree(s) or shrub(s) removed, 
dying, or becoming; in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority; seriously 
damaged, defective or diseased within five years from the substantial 
completion of the scheme shall be replaced within the next planting season 
by tree(s) or shrub(s) of similar size and species to those originally required 
to be planted. All hedging, tree(s) and shrub(s) shall be planted in accordance 
with British Standard BS 8545:2014 Trees: from nursery to independence in 
the landscape - Recommendations and BS4428 - Code of Practice for 
General Landscape Operations.  

Reason 

To ensure a satisfactory standard of appearance of the development in the 
interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policies GE1 
and DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

Page 85



 
 

5. 
No part of the residential accommodation hereby permitted shall be occupied 
unless and until the external amenity space for that dwelling has been laid 
out and provided in full accordance with the details shown on the approved 
plans and thereafter shall remain available for use at all times. 

Reason 

In the interests of the amenities of the future occupants of the residential 
accommodation in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 
2016.  
  

6. 

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until the 
bin storage area(s) and/or Bin Collection Points (BCP) for that dwelling has 
been laid out and provided in full accordance with the approved details and 
thereafter those facilities shall remain available for use at all times. All bins 
which serve the development within the red line site area must be stored 
within the approved bin storage area and not positioned on the public 
highway or in the open, unless on bin collection days.  

Reason 

In the interests of the amenities of future occupants of the residential 
accommodation and neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policies 
DE1 and [H10/H11] of the Coventry Local Plan 2016.  
  

7. 
No part of the residential accommodation hereby permitted shall be occupied 
unless and until the cycle parking for that dwelling has been provided and 
thereafter shall remain available for use at all times. 

Reason 

In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies 
DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 
  

8. 

The dwelling(s) hereby permitted shall be constructed from the approved 
materials contained within AMENDED DRAWING - Materials Plan - Whole 
Site - Drawing No.KETF-PL-003 Rev B, unless alternative details have been 
approved via a discharge of condition application. These details shall be 
installed only in full accordance with the approved details prior to the first 
occupation of the development and thereafter shall be retained and shall not 
be removed or altered in any way  

Reason 

To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external 
appearance in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

9. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or any 
statutory instrument amending, revoking and/or replacing that Order, no 
further development shall take place within the curtilage of any dwellinghouse 
hereby permitted without the prior grant of planning permission by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Page 86



 
 

  

 

Reason 

Having regard to the design, layout and general nature of the proposed 
development it is important to ensure that no further development is carried 
out which would detract from the appearance of the area and affect the 
amenity of adjacent properties. Therefore, no additional development is to 
be carried out without the permission of the Local Planning Authority in 
accordance with Policies H3 and DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 
  

10. 

No part of the residential accommodation hereby permitted shall be occupied 
unless and until the road connecting that dwelling to the adopted highway 
have been constructed to surface course and thereafter shall remain 
available for use at all times. 
 

Reason 
In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies 
DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 89



0m 10m5m

FRONT ELEVATION F/SIDE ELEVATION

HAZELCHERRY

R/SIDE ELEVATION

PROJECT:

THOMPSONS FARM,
KERESLEY

TITLE:
PLANNING

PROJECT CODE:

KETF-PL
DRAWN BY: SCALE: DATE:

REV:

1:100@A3

THIS DRAWING IS THE COPYRIGHT OF LIONCOURT HOMES LTD AND HAS BEEN PRODUCED FOR
THE PLANNING PURPOSES ONLY. SUCH DRAWINGS CAN BE SCALED BUT ARE NOT TO BE USED
FOR CONSTRUCTION OR SALES DOCUMENTS

SCALE BAR:

04-23LCH

AA

AVENUE
CHERRY HAZEL ELEV

P
age 90



0m 10m5m

FRONT ELEVATION

REAR ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION

SIDE ELEVATION

PROJECT:

THOMPSONS FARM,
KERESLEY

TITLE:
PLANNING

PROJECT CODE:

KETF-PL
DRAWN BY: SCALE: DATE:

REV:

1:100@A3

THIS DRAWING IS THE COPYRIGHT OF LIONCOURT HOMES LTD AND HAS BEEN PRODUCED FOR
THE PLANNING PURPOSES ONLY. SUCH DRAWINGS CAN BE SCALED BUT ARE NOT TO BE USED
FOR CONSTRUCTION OR SALES DOCUMENTS

SCALE BAR:

04-23LCH

AA

AVENUE
ALDER ELEVATIONS

P
age 91



0m 10m5m

FRONT ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION

REAR ELEVATION

PROJECT:

THOMPSONS FARM,
KERESLEY

TITLE:
PLANNING

PROJECT CODE:

KETF-PL
DRAWN BY: SCALE: DATE:

REV:

1:100@A3

THIS DRAWING IS THE COPYRIGHT OF LIONCOURT HOMES LTD AND HAS BEEN PRODUCED FOR
THE PLANNING PURPOSES ONLY. SUCH DRAWINGS CAN BE SCALED BUT ARE NOT TO BE USED
FOR CONSTRUCTION OR SALES DOCUMENTS

SCALE BAR:

04-23LCH

AA

AVENUE
HAZEL ELEV SEMI

P
age 92



Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  PL/2023/0001811/HHA 
Site:  15 Merynton Avenue 
Ward: Wainbody 
Proposal: Application for revised dormer and roof alterations, raised 

patio to rear and retention of minor amendments to 
extensions approved in HH/2020/0565 for two storey 
front, rear and side extensions. 

Case Officer: Grace Goodman 
 

SUMMARY 
 
The property has recently been extended with a two-storey front, rear and side 
extension, approved under application HH/2020/0565). In addition to the extensions, 
a rear dormer and additional roof alteration have been added, with an application to 
retain these having been refused (HH/2022/2530) and subsequently dismissed at 
appeal.  
 
The current planning application is principally for alterations to change the as built 
dormer and roof alterations to construct, a smaller dormer window and a raised patio, 
with some other minor alterations to the extensions. The proposal is considered to 
have an acceptable impact upon the neighbour’s amenity and character of the area. 
 

KEY FACTS 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

Over 5 objections  
 

Current use of site: Residential dwelling  
Proposed use of site: Residential dwelling with extension 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
Planning committee are recommended to approve planning permission subject to 
conditions. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 

 The proposal is acceptable in principle.  
 The proposal will not adversely impact upon the amenity of neighbours. 
 The proposal will have an appropriate visual appearance and layout 
 The proposal accords with Policies DE1, DS3, H5 of the Coventry Local Plan 

2016, together with the aims of the NPPF. 

  

Page 93

Agenda Item 7



SITE DESCRIPTION 

The property is a semi -detached two storey dwelling, with extensions to the side and 
rear. There is a long rear garden of over 20m in length and off-street parking for at 
least two vehicles. The character of the street is quiet residential comprising of a 
mixture of mainly substantial semi-detached with some detached properties close-by 
particularly at the junction with Hilary Road just to the north.  

 

APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The application is to change the as built dormer and roof alteration for a smaller dormer 
window on the rear roof slope of the property, alterations to the roof which will vary the 
pitch of the side roof slightly, a raised patio as well as minor alterations to the size and 
positions of a couple of windows and doors in the extensions.  
 
The proposed flat roof dormer window will be 3.7m in depth, 2.4m in height and a width 
of 5.25m. The pitch of the hipped roof will be altered to the side elevation to 
accommodate the ridge steel beam which sits on top of the side wall and will support 
the flat roof dormer. The raised patio will be 0.55m high and extend out 1.5m before 
stepping down.  
 
Minor amendments: On the ground floor southern facing side elevation, there is the 
addition of 3 small new windows, one of which will be obscure glazed. One side door 
will be blocked up with a new door further down, one of the side windows will be slightly 
bigger. At first floor on the southern facing side elevation, one new window is proposed 
which will be obscure glazed. 

 

PLANNING HISTORY 
 

 
Application Number Description of Development Decision and Date 
HH/2020/0565 Erection of 2 storey front, rear 

and side and single storey rear 
extensions. 

Approved (May 2020) 

HH/2022/2530 Two storey front, rear, side and 
single storey rear extension, 
dormer and garden outbuilding 

Refused (November 
2022) and 
subsequently 
dismissed at appeal 

PL/2023/0000220/HHA Rear Outbuilding  Approved (at 
committee, March 
2023) 

 

POLICY 

National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF published in July 2021 sets 
out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be 
applied. It sets out the Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the 

Page 94



extent that is relevant, proportionate and necessary to do so. The NPPF promotes 
sustainable development and good design is recognised as a key aspect of this. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 2014, this adds further context to 
the NPPF, and it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 

Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policies relating 
to this application are: 
Policy DE1 Ensuring High Quality Design; 
Policy DS3: Sustainable Development;  
Policy H5: Managing Existing Housing Stock; 
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 

SPG Design Guidelines for Extending Your Home  

 

STATUTORY CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
None 
 
PUBLIC RESPONSES 
Notification letters were sent out to adjoining neighbouring houses.  
Six letters of objection raising the following material planning considerations: 

 Overlooking 
 Privacy issues 
 Dormer dominates the roof slope.  

Within the letters received the following non-material planning considerations were 
raised, these cannot be given due consideration in the planning process: 

 Future use of the property 

Any further comments received will be reported within late representations. 
 
ASSESSMENT 
 
Principle of Development: 
The application site is located in a residential area where it is considered sustainable, 
acceptable and common to extend homes. However, it is important to ensure that 
extensions are in keeping with the design and character of the existing house and of 
the surrounding area and there will be no harmful impact on residential amenity. 
Materials, colours, textures and local distinctiveness should all be considered within 
the context of the local area in order to ensure a high-quality urban environment, in 
accordance with policies DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan and Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for Extending Your Home, unless relevant planning considerations indicate 
otherwise, including whether or not a proposal will cause: 
• Loss of light; 

Page 95



• Overlooking and loss of privacy; 
• Over‐development of a site; 
• Visual intrusion; and 
• Impact on the street scene and character of the area 
 
Impact on visual amenity: 
Policy DE1 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure high quality design and development 
proposals must respect and enhance their surroundings and positively contribute 
towards the local identity and character of an area. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 130 states that “Planning 
policies and decisions should ensure that developments: 
a. will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short 
term but over the lifetime of the development; 
b. are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping; 
c. are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change (such as increased densities); 
d. establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive 
places to live, work and visit; 
e. optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and 
support local facilities and transport networks; and 
f. create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and 
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where 
crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or 
community cohesion and resilience. 
 
The NPPF further states (at paragraph 134) “Development that is not well designed 
should be refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and 
government guidance on design, taking into account any local design guidance and 
supplementary planning documents such as design guides and codes.  
The proposed alterations to the roof over the two-storey side extension will re-
introduce a traditional hipped roof the side of the property, albeit with a slightly steeper 
angled roof slope than the neighbouring properties, which is more in keeping with the 
character of the area and similar I appearance to the originally approved scheme 
which allowed for a two-storey side extension. The alterations to the side of the roof 
are not considered to adversely impact on the street scene or character of the 
surrounding area. 
 
The dormer to the rear will be reduced in size and will not be visible from the street 
scene as it will be screened from view by the roof of the rear wing and consequently 
will have no adverse impact upon the street scene. It is not uncommon to have 
dormers in the area and the overall scale, materials and design are in keeping with the 
property and is considered to be acceptable. The dormer is in keeping with the 
guidelines within the Householder Supplementary Planning Document and will be 
1000mm up from the eaves as well as 700mm in from the side boundary. 

Page 96



 
Impact on residential amenity: 
The dormer is not considered to result in any more overlooking or result in more loss 
of privacy than results from the existing window arrangement to the rear. The dormer 
window is set up the roof slope and in from the side boundaries in accordance with 
the SPD and given the position of the windows away from the side boundaries and the 
length of the rear garden it is not considered that this would result in any unacceptable 
overlooking or loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers. The raised patio will only be 
half a metre in height and therefore it is unlikely to result in overlooking with the current 
standard height fence. The gardens along Merynton Avenue, all have a slight 
downward slope therefore most properties have already installed raised patios. The 
revised positions and sizes of windows will not impact neighbouring amenity as they 
are on the ground floor or obscure glazed therefore will not result in an increase in 
overlooking. The proposal is not considered to cause a detrimental impact upon the 
amenity of the adjoining neighbours. 
 
Equality implications: 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 
149 states: -  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  
a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  
b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  
c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  
 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and 
the matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of 
this application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
CONCLUSION 
In view of the acceptable principle, design and no detrimental impact upon 
neighbouring properties, the scheme accords with development plan policies, 
supplementary planning guidelines and the NPPF 2021 therefore the application is 
recommended for approval. The development is in accordance with Policies DE1, 
DS3, H5 and HE2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
 

 

 

Page 97



CONDITIONS / REASONS 

 

1. 
The amendments to the dormer hereby permitted shall be carried out 
within 6 months of the date of this permission in full accordance with the 
approved plans and schedule of works. 
 

Reason 
The works to the patio hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 
years from the date of this decision. 
  

2. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans:  

Proposed Loft Floor Plan and Elevations DWG C361 - 103 Rev G 
 
Location Plan DWG C361 / 010 
 
Site and Block Plan DWG C361/021 Rev B 
 
Existing Floor Plans and Elevations DWG C361 - 012 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  

3. 
Other than where specified on the approved plans, no facing and roofing 
materials shall be used other than materials similar in appearance to those 
used predominantly in the construction of the exterior of the existing 
building. 

Reason 

To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external 
appearance in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

Page 98



ATH
ER

STO
N

 PLAC
E

The
Seasons

BM 91.27m

90.2m

126
114

124
112

118
106

116
104

102
94

92
88

82

65
73

75
77

11
9

1 to 12

HILARY ROAD

CANNOCKS LANE
91.0mPosts

Posts

88.0m

61

80
74

44

38
a

38
36

a
36

3262

5

13

19
16

14

6

4

2

5
11

8
2

4
2

3
1

26
30

11

1

M
ER

YN
TO

N
 A

VE
N

U
E

SEFTON ROAD

HILARY ROAD

40

20

23 48

M
ER

YN
TO

N
 AVEN

U
E

CHECKED

DATE

DRAWN

SCALE @ A4

REVISIONS

C O P Y R I G H T - KSN Design

DRAWING NO.

JOB TITLE

DRAWING TITLE

CLIENT

PLANNING

Location Plan
C361 / 010
Location Plan

2 Storey Front, Rear and Side and
Single Storey Rear Extension and Loft.

Mr Mohammed Ikram1:1250

Aug 2022

KSN

KSN

NOTES:

Do not scale off this drawing - All dimensions and setting out to be
verified on site.  If in doubt contact the originator for clarification.

This drawing is the property of KSN DESIGN.
Copyright is reserved by them and no part of this drawing may be reproduced
in any form, material or electronic format without the written consent of the
copyright owner. The drawing is issued on the condition that it is not copied,
reproduced, retained or disclosed to any unauthorised person, either wholly
or in part without the consent in writing of:

KSN
DESIGN t: 07771 560785

ARCHITECTURAL CONSULTANTS
26 Wyche Avenue, Birmingham. B14 6LQ

N

P
age 99



EXISTING GROUND FLOOR PLAN

0 1 2 3 4 5

0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000

Metres

millimetres

EXISTING FIRST FLOOR PLAN EXISTING ROOF PLAN

0 1 2 3 4 5

0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000

Metres

millimetres

EXISTING FRONT ELEVATION EXISTING REAR ELEVATION EXISTING SIDE ELEVATION

CHECKED

DATE

DRAWN

SCALE @ A1

REVISIONS

C O P Y R I G H T - KSN Design

DRAWING NO.

JOB TITLE

DRAWING TITLE

CLIENT

PLANNING

Existing Floor Plans and Elevations
C361 / 012
Existing Floor Plans and Elevations

2 Storey Front, Rear and Side and
Single Storey Rear Extension and Loft.

Mr Raj Mehar1:50, 1:100

Feb 2019

KSN

KSN

This drawing is the property of KSN DESIGN.
Copyright is reserved by them and no part of this drawing may be reproduced
in any form, material or electronic format without the written consent of the
copyright owner. The drawing is issued on the condition that it is not copied,
reproduced, recorded or disclosed to any unauthorized person, either wholly
or in part without the consent in writing of:

KSN
DESIGN t: 07771 560785

ARCHITECTURAL CONSULTANTS
26 Wyche Avenue, Birmingham. B14 6LQ

P
age 100



CHECKED

DATE

DRAWN

SCALE @ A1

REVISIONS

C O P Y R I G H T - KSN Design

DRAWING NO.

JOB TITLE

DRAWING TITLE

CLIENT

PLANNING

Site and Block Plan
C361 / 021 Rev F
Site and Block Plan

Rear Outbuilding

Mr Raj Mehar1:200

Feb 2023

KSN

KSN

This drawing is the property of KSN DESIGN.
Copyright is reserved by them and no part of this drawing may be reproduced
in any form, material or electronic format without the written consent of the
copyright owner. The drawing is issued on the condition that it is not copied,
reproduced, recorded or disclosed to any unauthorized person, either wholly
or in part without the consent in writing of:

KSN
DESIGN t: 07771 560785

ARCHITECTURAL CONSULTANTS
26 Wyche Avenue, Birmingham. B14 6LQ

Rev A - 14.03.2023 - Outbuilding size reduced. KSN

Rev B - 29.08.2023 - Loft dormer size reduced. KSN

Rev C - 09.09.2023 - Pation area shown. KSN

Rev D - 29.11.2023 - Roof rationalised. KSN

Rev E - 09.09.2023 - Roof amended as planning officers comments. KSN

Rev F - 06.12.2023 - Roof amended as planning officers comments. KSN

P
age 101

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
MERYNTON AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
45°



Skirtings to match existing
12mm ply boxing to SVP with removable
panel and permanent vent.

Provide stud partitioning as shown of 50
x 75mm studs and noggins at
max.400mm centres with 12.5mm
plasterboard and skim both sides. With
50mm ROCKWOOL FLEXI slab insulation
to new wc/shower room, to achieve an
average sound reduction of 42dB.

All lead work to be in accordance with
BS:1178 & following the guidelines &
standard details laid down by the Lead
Sheet Association.

All wall finishes to comprise of plaster
finish with emulsion paint to clients
requirements unless stated otherwise.

Heating system is to be extended to
accomodate new areas radiator locations
to clients approval. Contractors
responsibility to provide a system to
deliver 21° when -5° externally. The
system is to be fed from existing boiler.

All new steelwork to Structural Engineers
recommendations.

If necessary, exposed floor joists to be
coated with AQUAFIRE System
comprising water based intumescent
laquer to achieve minimum 30 minutes fire
resistancy.

PART 'P' Electrics

LIGHTING AND ELECTRICS
- A min. of 1 of the new rooms (eg. the
ensuite facility) is to have energy efficient
lighting new lighting (ie. to have initial lamp
plus ballast efficacy  of not less than 40
lamp-lumens per circuit-watt.
- All lighting to be switched locally.
- All new electrics to meet the requirements
of approved document P of the Building
Regulations.  The electrics must be
designed, installed and inspected and tested
by a person competent to do so.  Provide an
appropriate BS 7671 certificate if requested
by the Building Inspector.

Smoke Detection
If not already existing. Ceiling mounted
smoke alarms provided on each floor,
situated max. 7.5m from habitable rooms
and  min. 300mm off adjacent walls and
light fittings, and permanently wired to a
separate fused circuit at the distribution
board. Alarms to be linked together so
that detection of smoke by one alarm
operates the alarm signal in both units. All
to BS 5839 pt 6.

Dormer Cheek Construction:
265 x 165mm concrete plain tiles,
colour to match existing; Or timber /
plastic panels on sw battens on
breathable felt (Tyvec or similar); 12mm
WBP grade plywood; 12.5mm fireline
board to (party boundaries only) 97 x
50mm sw studding @ 400crs with
85mm Quinn Therm QR insulation between
stud / joists (U-value 0.30), with 12.5mm
plasterboard and skim finish internal.

New Soil stub stack with rodding
access point above FFL, to be
connected into existing as shown to
terminate 900mm above opening
window.
Waste to Toilet to be 100mmoutlet
for pan, 40mm outlet for sinks, baths
and shower and 32mm outlet for
wash hand basins

Bathroom to have 30l/s mechanical
ventilation wall fan, with a 15 minutes
over-run time and controlled by light
switch.
Background ventilation to new
bathroom, to be achieved by
providing 10mm air gap under door.

New windows for secondary means of
escape to provide a minimum clear
opening of 0.33m\2 minimum clear
opening dimension 450mm (in one
direction). with a cill height of no more
than 800mm high

Timber wall lining and Dormer cheeks
Specify 30mm RWA45 between
vertical bittens as Rockwool guidance
notes with 120mm in between.

Timber floor of minimum density 15.0
kg/m2, with 100mm mineral wool
insulation between - minimum density of
10.0 kg/m3
Floor Joists - max. span - 3.65m c24
50x200 @300mm ctrs, with noggins
between at aprox. 2000mm centres

Provide stud partitioning as shown of 50
x 75mm studs and noggins at
max.400mm centres with 12.5mm
plasterboard and skim both sides. With
50mm ROCKWOOL FLEXI slab insulation
to new wc/shower room, to achieve an
average sound reduction of 42dB.

Roof light for means of escape-
Velux GPL M06, which has an
unobstructed opening of 696x780

100x50mm sawn softwood stud framing
at max. 600mm centres, with 90mm
fibreglass quilt insulation stapled to
framing, with 500g polythene membrane
and 12.5mm plasterboard & skim finish.
To achieve a 'u' value no greater than
0.38m/w2k. See manufacturers
information
30min fire resisting enclosure to stair
shaft to provide fully protected escape
route to final exit at ground floor i.e
partitions to be 30min construction
extending up to & fire stopped against
underside of roof.

100x100mm timber
post to support ridge
beam to SE details

Note:
All roofing works are to be carried out by
a specialist contractor.

Ground Level

DPC (min 150mm above GL)

Rainwater goods 105 half round uPVC
gutter with 69mm Ø downpipe's

Facing brick to match existing

Roof pitch to match main
roof

Roof tile colour to match existing main
roof. Roof tiles suitable for roof pitch

0 1 2 3 4 5

0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000

Metres

millimetres

roof tiles to
match existing

Render finish to
match existing

roof tiles to
match existing

Facing brickwork
to match existing Facing brickwork

to match existing

roof tiles to
match existing

Facing brickwork
to match existing

obscure glazed
window

CHECKED

DATE

DRAWN

SCALE @ A1

REVISIONS

C O P Y R I G H T - KSN Design

DRAWING NO.

JOB TITLE

DRAWING TITLE

CLIENT

BUILDING REGULATIONS

Proposed Loft Floor Plan and Elevations
C361 / 103 Rev H
Proposed Loft Floor Plan and Elevations

2 Storey Front, Rear and Side and
Single Storey Rear Extension

Mr Raj Mehar1:50, 1:100

Sep 2021

KSN

KSN

This drawing is the property of KSN DESIGN.
Copyright is reserved by them and no part of this drawing may be reproduced
in any form, material or electronic format without the written consent of the
copyright owner. The drawing is issued on the condition that it is not copied,
reproduced, recorded or disclosed to any unauthorized person, either wholly
or in part without the consent in writing of:

KSN
DESIGN t: 07771 560785

ARCHITECTURAL CONSULTANTS
26 Wyche Avenue, Birmingham. B14 6LQ

Rev A - 28.01.2022 - Internal layout amended, elevations altered. KSN

Rev B - 14.07.2023 - Internal layout amended, elevations altered. KSN

Rev C - 19.07.2023 - Elevations altered. KSN

Rev D - 15.08.2023 - Loft Floor and Elevations altered. KSN

Rev E - 22.08.2023 - Loft Floor and Elevations altered. KSN

Rev F - 25.08.2023 - Loft Floor and Elevations altered. KSN

Rev G - 10.09.2023 - Patio details addded. KSN

Rev H - 06.12.2023 - Elevations amended. KSN

P
age 102

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
PROPOSED LOFT FLOOR PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
3075

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
667

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
1760

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
1849

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
323

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
1110

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
2958

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
2698

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
700

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
760

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATIONFRONT ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
PROPOSED REAR ELEVATIONREAR ELEVATIONELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATIONSIDE ELEVATION ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATIONSIDE ELEVATION ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
3307

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
700

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
1000



t: 07771 560785

ARCHITECTURAL CONSULTANTS
26 Wyche Avenue, Birmingham. B14 6LQ

CHECKED

DATE

DRAWN

SCALE @ A2

REVISIONS

C O P Y R I G H T - KSN Design

DRAWING NO.

JOB TITLE

DRAWING TITLE

CLIENT

PLANNING

This drawing is the property of KSN DESIGN.
Copyright is reserved by them and no part of this drawing may be
reproduced in any form, material or electronic format without the written
consent of the copyright owner. The drawing is issued on the condition that it
is not copied, reproduced, recorded or disclosed to any unauthorized
person, either wholly or in part without the consent in writing of:

1:50

KSN
DESIGN

Do not scale off this drawing - All dimensions and setting out to be 
verified on site. If in doubt contact the originator for clarification.

Proposed 3-D

Mr Raj Mehar

ZA

KSN C361 / 104

Roof DormerDec. 2023Proposed 3-D View

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  PL/2023/0002456/TCA 
Site:  Holly Bank Earlsdon Avenue South, Coventry, CV5 6DS 
Ward:  
Proposal: Crown reduce silver birch tree to previous reduction points 

or suitable growth points dependant on decay present 
(approx. 3.5metres) Crown thin by 10-15% Crown lift the 
northern canopy by 3.0 metres. 

Case Officer: Grace Goodman 
 
SUMMARY 
The application proposes to crown reduce silver birch tree to previous reduction points 
or suitable growth points dependant on decay present (approx. 3.5metres). Crown thin 
by 10-15% and crown lift the northern canopy by 3.0 metres. The purpose of his report 
is to assess whether the trees the subject of this notice are worthy of special protection 
through the designation of a Tree Preservation Order in the interests of the amenity of 
the area. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The application has been recommended for approval. The application has not received 
any public representations objecting to the proposal.  
 
KEY FACTS 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

One of the flats within the site is owned by a Councillor 

Current use of site: Informal landscaped area on a residential site 
Proposed use of site: Informal landscaped area on a residential site  
Conservation Area: Earlsdon Conservation Area 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning committee are recommended to grant consent for the proposed tree works.  
 
REASON FOR DECISION 

The proposal is acceptable in principle.  
The proposal will not have an adverse impact upon the amenity of the 
Conservation Area of the visual amenity of the street scene.  
The proposal accords with Policies HE2, GE3 and GE4 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016, together with the aims of the NPPF. 

  

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The application is a notice under section 211 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 for works to trees in a designated Conservation Area. The application proposes 
to crown reduce silver birch tree to previous reduction points or suitable growth points 
dependant on decay present (approx. 3.5metres). Crown thin by 10-15% and crown 
lift the northern canopy by 3.0 metres. 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
The tree the subject of this application is a  mature Birch tree approximately 40 years 
of age, and approximately 15m in height and 10m in crown spread. It is located at 
approximately 3- 4m from the adjacent apartment building, Holly Bank. The tree sits 
within the landscaped grounds of these 3 storey apartments. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
None 
 
POLICY 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out 
the Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent that is 
relevant, proportionate and necessary to do so. The NPPF promotes sustainable 
development and good design is recognised as a key aspect of this. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), adds further context to the NPPF, 
and it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policies relating 
to this application are: 
Policy HE2: Conservation and Heritage Assets 
Policy GE3: Biodiversity, Geological, Landscape and Archaeological Conservation 
Policy GE4: Tree Protection 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Non-statutory 
No objection from Tree Officer 
 
Neighbour consultation 
There is no statutory duty for public consultation for an application for works to trees 
in Conservation Areas. 
 
ASSESSMENT 
 
Trees in a designated Conservation Area (that are not protected by a Tree 
Preservation Order) are protected by the provisions in section 211 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. These provisions require people to notify the Local 

Page 106



Planning Authority, using a ‘section 211 notice’, 6 weeks before carrying out certain 
work on such trees, unless an exemption applies. The work may go ahead before 
the end of the 6-week period if the local planning authority gives written consent. 
This notice period gives the Local Planning Authority the opportunity to consider 
whether to make a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) on the tree. This application 
relates solely to tree works proposed at the site. 
 
The primary consideration of this report is whether the trees subject of the notice are 
worthy of special protection through the designation of a Tree Preservation Order in 
the interests of the amenity of the area. In making that decision the key criteria for 
assessing amenity are:  
• Visibility from public vantage points;  
• Individual impact - related to size and form (now or in future), rarity, value as a 
screen or contribution to the character or appearance of a Conservation Area);  
• Wider impact - significance of the trees within the local surroundings (collective 
value). 
 
Policy HE2indicates that important landscape features of value to the amenity or 
history of a locality, including mature woodlands, trees and hedgerows, will be 
protected against unnecessary loss or damage.  
 
The silver birch, the subject of the application is around 40 years of age. This soft-
wooded species is relatively short lived at approximately 60 – 80 years of age, where 
it attains heights in excess of 25m.  
This tree has previously undergone crown reduction works, prior to the designation of 
Conservation Area status. This soft-wooded species does not particularly tolerate 
crown reduction works very well, especially at this mature age class. Such works often 
result to stem decay to the locations of previous pollard points/heads. Therefore, the 
risk of branch failure resulting from decayed pollard heads which support to the main 
crown, is likely. 
 
The current notified works will aid to continue the retention of this tree within the 
perspective and scale of the immediate restrictive surrounding area. The existing 
crown is not visible to the surrounding local public vantage points, and therefore the 
tree would not qualify to afford protection by means of a TPO. 
Equality implications: 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 
149 states: -  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  
a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  
b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  
c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  
 

Page 107



Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and 
the matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of 
this application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
CONCLUSION 
The proposed tree works are considered to be acceptable in principle and will not 
result in any significant impact upon the conservation area or visual amenity in 
accordance with Policy HE2 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. The officer 
recommendation is that it would not be expedient to make a Tree Preservation Order 
in this instance. Planning Committee are therefore recommended to grant consent for 
the proposed tree works. 
 

Page 108



P
age 109



P
age 110



Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Application RMM/2022/1982 - Land at Thompsons Farm
	Application RMM 2022 1982 - final plans
	Sheets and Views
	Location Plan



	6 Application RMM/2022/2615 - Land at Thompsons Farm
	Application RMM 2022 2615 - final plans
	Extracted pages from KETF-PLB-HOUSE TYPE PACK b.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	KETF-PL-CHERRY HAZEL ELEVATIONS-AV


	Extracted pages from KETF-PLB-HOUSE TYPE PACK c.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	KETF-PL-ALDER ELEVATIONS-AV


	Extracted pages from KETF-PLB-HOUSE TYPE PACKa.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	KETF-PL-HAZEL ELEVATIONS-AV




	7 Application PL/2023/0001811/HHA - 15 Merynton Avenue
	Application PL 2023 0001811 - final plans
	Sheets and Views
	C361

	C361 - 012 Existing Plans and Elevations.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	existing


	C361-021-Rev-F-Site-and-Block-Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	block


	C361-103-Rev-H-Proposed-Loft-Floor-Plan-and-Elevations.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	103




	8 Application PL/2023/0002456/TCA - Holly Bank Earlsdon Avenue South, Coventry, CV5 6DS
	Application PL 2023 0002456 - final plans


